

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2022

Course Modality and Dialogue as Predictors of Postsecondary Student Success in Online Programs

Danielle Lawson Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the Educational Psychology Commons, and the Psychology Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Psychology and Community Services

This is to certify that the doctoral dissertation by

Danielle Lawson

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Steven Linnville, Committee Chairperson, Psychology Faculty Dr. Kimberly Rynearson, Committee Member, Psychology Faculty Dr. Stephen Rice, University Reviewer, Psychology Faculty

> Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

> > Walden University 2022

Abstract

Course Modality and Dialogue as Predictors of Postsecondary Student Success

in Online Programs

by

Danielle Lawson

M.Ed., Loyola University, 2008

BS, University of New Mexico, 2005

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Psychology

Walden University

November 2022

Abstract

There is a growing demand for online education; however, online programs yield consistently lower student retention rates and student success. Students in online programs are typically nontraditional students from underrepresented populations in higher education. The purpose of this nonexperimental quantitative study was to determine whether dialogue (learner-learner, learner-instructor, and learner-content interactions) and course modality (traditional online and competency-based education [CBE] online) predicted student success (final course grade). Moore's model of transactional distance served as the theoretical framework for this study, specifically the dialogue component. Participants were 127 online higher education students who took (successfully or unsuccessfully) a traditional online course or CBE online course within the last 6 months. Participants completed a demographic survey and the Distance Education Learning Environment Survey. Ordinal logistic regression was used to analyze data. Results indicated that learner-instructor interactions were a significant predictor of student success. Course modality was not a significant predictor. Although not significant, learner-learner interactions were a marginal predictor of student success. Results may be used to inform positive social change through program and course development to increase the likelihood of success for traditionally underrepresented populations.

Course Modality and Dialogue as Predictors of Postsecondary Student Success in Online

Programs

by

Danielle Lawson

M.Ed., Loyola University, 2008

BS, University of New Mexico, 2005

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Psychology

Walden University

November 2022

Dedication

This dissertation is dedicated to my dad, Brock McClanahan. Although he is no longer with us, I know that he would have been one of my greatest supporters and extremely proud of this accomplishment.

Acknowledgments

I would like to thank my husband, Jimmy Lawson; my daughters, Brianna, Amalia, and Remi; and my mother, Nancy, for their unwavering love and support. Thank you, Elicia, my residency partner and moral support. I would also like to thank my committee, Steven Linnville and Kimberly Rynearson, for their guidance and support throughout this process.

List of Tables iv
Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study1
Background2
Problem Statement5
Purpose of the Study
Research Questions and Hypotheses9
Theoretical Framework
Nature of the Study
Definition of Terms13
Assumptions13
Scope and Delimitations16
Limitations17
Significance of the Study17
Summary
Chapter 2: Literature Review21
Literature Search Strategy22
Theoretical Framework
Literature Review
Online Education
Student Success
CBE 32

Table of Contents

Role of Dialogue and Interaction in Online Courses	
Distance Education Learning Environment Survey	
Summary	48
Chapter 3: Research Method	50
Research Design and Rationale	51
Methodology	55
Population	55
Sampling and Sampling Procedures	55
Procedures for Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection	56
Instrumentation and Operationalization of Constructs	56
Study Variables	57
Data Analysis Plan	57
Research Questions and Hypotheses	58
Threats of Validity	60
Ethical Procedures	60
Summary	61
Chapter 4: Results	62
Data Collection	62
Study Results	69
Research Questions	
Hypothesis 1	
Hypothesis 2	71

Hypothesis 3	71
Hypothesis 4	72
Assumptions Testing	73
Summary	75
Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations	77
Interpretation of the Findings	77
Findings in Relationship to the Theoretical Framework	78
Findings in Relationship to the Literature	79
Limitations of the Study	80
Recommendations	81
Implications	82
Conclusion	82
References	84
Appendix A: Debriefing Response	102
Appendix B: Demographic Survey	

List of Tables

Table 1. Academic Performance and Information	63
Table 2. Sociodemographic Characteristics of Participants	67
Table 3. Course Satisfaction and Quality Assessment	69
Table 4. Parameter Estimates	73

Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study

Online education provides an academic opportunity for underserved and nontraditional higher education students. This may explain the vast expansion and growing demand for online programs. Although the demand for online programs in higher education continues to grow, academic institutions are faced with consistently higher attrition rates in online programs, as compared to their traditional face-to-face counterparts (Croxton, 2014). Despite lower student success, many students are drawn to online options. Although online programs offer increased flexibility for students, there are additional options that offer more even more flexibility, as well as an individualized academic experience. Competency-based education (CBE) is an online educational paradigm that is gaining significant momentum in higher education. CBE programs allow students to progress at their own pace and are developed to meet the individual needs of the student. CBE course completion is contingent upon demonstrating competency, as opposed to the traditional seat-time standard for credit hours.

The current study addressed the history of CBE and its modalities. I reviewed the current literature on CBE, highlighting the gaps. Although research had been conducted on CBE, less attention had been paid to the aspects of CBE that influence student success, such as the degree of dialogue and student demographics. The literature was also lacking in the examination of how CBE outcomes and student demographics compare to traditional online courses. This study addressed whether course modality (CBE online or traditional online) and dialogue (learner–learner, learner–instructor, and learner–content) predict student success. Moore's (1997) theory of transactional distance, specifically the

concept of dialogue, served as the theoretical foundation for this quantitative analysis of CBE. Moore defined dialogue as learner–learner, learner–instructor, and learner–content interactions. The Distance Education Learning Environment Survey (DELES) was used to assess student perceptions of dialogue within both traditional online courses and CBE courses (see Walker, 2003). The goal of the current study was to contribute to the literature that informs course development and institutional policy in efforts to increase student success in underrepresented student populations.

Background

Distance education dates back to 1840, when Isaac Newton began teaching via mail correspondence (Kentnor, 2015). With the technological advancements of radio and television, distance education continued to adapt and grow. However, the emergence of the internet in the 1980s had a monumental impact on distance education (Kentnor, 2015). By 1998, there was significant growth of online programs in nonprofit educational institutions (Arenson, 1998). Today, nearly 30% of students enrolled in a degree-granting postsecondary institution are enrolled in online courses (National Center for Education Statistics [NCES], 2018). Online learning is currently the fasted growing sector in higher education (Wengrowicz et al., 2018). Online education provides flexibility for students who may not otherwise have the ability to enroll in college courses. The typically asynchronous design in online education allows students to complete work at a time that is most convenient for them, without having to physically attend a class. This flexibility caters to those with other time-consuming life obligations (work, parenting) or limitations (geographical distance, physical limitations). The inherent flexibility of online education has influenced its growing demand and enrollment. It is estimated that 1 in 4 college students choose to take at least one of their classes online (Allen & Seaman, 2017).

The rapid growth and demand for online education have influenced the growth of CBE. CBE dates back to the early 19th century and the acceleration movement (Gallagher, 2014). There was a reemergence of CBE approaches in the 1960s and 1970s (Gallagher, 2014). In 1968, the U.S. Office of Education provided funding for 10 colleges and universities to develop a competency-based training program for elementary school teachers (Nodine, 2016). Then, in the 1970s, the U.S. Department of Education issued the Fund for the Improvement of Postsecondary Education, which prompted the expansion of CBE-based programs (Gallagher, 2014). The U.S. Department of Education (2018) reported that there are over 600 postsecondary institutions that are designing or implementing CBE programs. CBE courses are anticipated to continue to grow (Nodine, 2016). This was evidenced by the U.S. Department of Education publicly inviting colleges and universities to apply for funding for CBE-based programs (Gallagher, 2014).

There are varying modalities for the implementation of CBE. Although traditional courses in higher education focus on seat time, CBE-based programs focus on competency or performance. Supporters of the CBE model argued that it offers "hyper-individualization," a self-paced curriculum, and promises to save students money and time (Gallagher, 2014). Additionally, advocates argued that CBE programs personalize education and provide more opportunities for traditionally excluded groups (Gallagher, 2014). However, one of the criticisms of the CBE approach has been that there is an

overemphasis on individualization and a de-emphasis on social interaction (Gallagher, 2014).

It has been widely accepted that learner–learner, learner–instructor, and learner– content interactions play a vital role in learning (Lave & Wenger, 1991; Merriam et al., 2006; Vygotsky, 1986; Zimmerman, 2012). Bettinger et al. (2016) found that when online students who are less likely to engage in discussion are exposed to more interactive peers, they have a higher likelihood of passing the course, showing an improvement in grades, and having higher semester-to-semester persistence rates. Sung and Mayer (2012) demonstrated the importance of social presence and social interaction in online education by identifying five effective factors that have an impact on student perception of social presence: social respect, social sharing, open mind, social identity, and intimacy. Furthermore, T. Anderson (2003) examined the epistemological assumption about the role of human interaction within the realm of education and argued that social integration should be integrated within instructional design. Finally, O'Rielly and Newton (2002) found that students valued their interactions with peers as one of the most vital components of their education.

Results from the current study may help to fill a gap in the literature by addressing course modality and dialogue as possible factors that impact student success in online programs. Results may also help to fill a gap by comparing student success in traditional online programs and CBE online programs. This study was needed to identify factors that impact student success in online education, and thereby increase the likelihood of success in underrepresented student populations.

Problem Statement

The evolution and advancement of modern technology have dramatically influenced higher education. Students who were previously unable to enroll due to geographical distance, conflicting responsibilities, or schedule inflexibility are now afforded opportunities through the expansion of online education. Enrollment in online higher education courses continues to grow steadily and consistently (NCES, 2018). Despite the steady growth, attrition rates in online courses are consistently higher than in face-to-face courses (Peck et al., 2018; Radovan, 2019). For instance, online students are significantly less likely to complete their courses compared to students enrolled in traditional face-to-face courses (Wolff et al., 2014). Additionally, students who enroll in online programs are typically from underrepresented populations. In the 2015–2016 school year, the average student in a fully online program was a woman who was Black, 30 years of age or older, attending part-time, employed, independent with dependents, and married (NCES, 2018). All students should have an equal likelihood of educational success. To provide equal opportunity for student success, there must first be an understanding of reasons why there is lower student success in online courses. The purpose of the current study was to determine whether dialogue (learner-learner, learnerinstructor, and learner-content interactions) and course modality (traditional online and CBE online) predict student retention (final course grade). Studies had been conducted to examine risk factors, protective factors, and reasons for the disparity in retention rates of online versus traditional students. Much of the research about online attrition focused on student variables: the number of prior class withdrawals, grade point average (GPA;

Bloemer et al., 2018), self-efficacy (Bradley et al., 2017), self-regulatory skills (Bradley et al., 2017; Peck et al., 2018), age, use of financial aid (Cipher et al., 2017), employment, intrinsic motivation, intent to finish a degree, help-seeking attitudes, general stress, workload (Brubacher & Silinda, 2019), and subject-specific proficiencies (Wolff et al., 2014). Some researchers have taken the approach of examining instructional techniques and variables specific to online education: preparing instructors to teach in an online environment (Matthias et al., 2019), the use of student-preferred instructional strategies (Watson et al., 2017), and the correct use of technologies (Chang & Hannafin, 2015). The current study addressed a gap in the literature by addressing course modality and dialogue as potential factors that impact retention.

Researchers have also examined solutions to online attrition. Some of these empirically based solutions have included identification of at-risk students (Brubacher & Silinda, 2019), investment in faculty and staff development, careful selection of instructors to teach first-year classes (Simplicio, 2019; Tinto, 2006), new student orientation programs (Robichaud, 2016), assessing readiness for online instruction (Simplicio, 2019; Wladis et al., 2016), scheduled student–instructor contact times, strong campus support (Simplicio, 2019), and academic coaching (Lehan et al., 2018). Most of the proposed solutions for decreasing attrition rates in online courses did not focus on instructional design. There are innovative instructional modalities that should be explored as potential solutions to online attrition, such as CBE. The current study filled a gap in the literature by addressing whether CBE is a potential factor for increasing online student retention. I also examined the role of dialogue in online retention. CBE is an innovative approach to improving student outcomes and student satisfaction in higher education. Four components of CBE separate it from traditional education: flexibility, customization, mastery, and transparency (Hilliard et al., 2018). CBE is flexible in terms of providing learner-paced coursework (Hilliard et al., 2018). Students can customize their learning experience by tailoring content to meet individual interests, preferred learning styles, and credentialing requirements (Hilliard et al., 2018). As opposed to the traditional seat-time standard, CBE students are required to demonstrate mastery of content (Hilliard et al., 2018). Lastly, CBE provides transparency by providing students with clear connections between learning goals and career alignment (Hilliard et al., 2018).

Studies have been conducted to evaluate the efficacy of CBE courses. Krause et al. (2015) compared traditional online courses to CBE online courses and found that the following variables were important indicators of success: quality and relevance of resources, providing increased support and ongoing feedback, and offering opportunities for students to practice what they have learned. Some studies have focused on specific outcomes such as critical thinking skills (Mayeshiba et al., 2018) while other studies have focused on evaluating and comparing specific programs that are using different CBE models (Grann, 2017; Klein-Collins, 2012; Marcus, 2017). Hilliard et al. (2018) identified four main issues with CBE: Flexible pacing can stall progress for some learners, online delivery models have weak outcomes for unprepared learners, and competencies align to future employment. Additionally, some studies focused on the

establishment and application of specific competencies (Gruppen et al., 2016). However, there was a gap in the literature regarding the comparison of student retention in traditional online courses versus online CBE courses (Gallagher, 2014).

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this nonexperimental quantitative study was to determine whether course modality (traditional online and CBE online) and dialogue (learner-learner, learner-instructor, and learner-content) predict student success (final course grade). Participants identified as previously (within the last 6 months) or currently enrolled in a traditional online program or a CBE online program in the demographic survey. Dialogue (learner-learner, learner-instructor, and learner-content) was measured using the DELES, which provided a numerical subscore for each form of dialogue. These subscores were continuous interval variables. The dependent/outcome variable was student success. Student success was based on a 4-point grading scale; therefore, it was a continuous variable, but this outcome measure was later changed into a categorical variable. Demographic data were collected and compared between traditional online students and CBE online students using descriptive statistics. The questions in the demographic survey were based on the current literature. Demographic data included the following: information about the current or most recent course, current academic performance, gender, race, ethnicity, age, military experience, financial aid, previous college experience/performance, relationships, employment/professional experience, and basis for choosing program (CBE versus traditional).

Research Questions and Hypotheses

The key research question (RQ) in this study concerned whether online course modality type (traditional online versus CBE online) and dialogue (learner–learner, learner–instructor, and learner–content interaction) predict student success.

 H_0 : Online course modality and dialogue do not predict student success.

 H_1 : Online course modality and dialogue predict student success.

More specifically, the RQs and hypotheses were the following:

RQ1: Is online course modality (traditional online or CBE online) a significant predictor of student success?

 H_{01} : Course modality (traditional online or CBE online) is not a significant predictor of student success.

 H_{a1} : Course modality (traditional online or CBE online) is a significant predictor of student success.

RQ2: Is dialogue (learner-learner interaction) a significant predictor of student success?

 H_{02} : Dialogue (learner–learner interaction) is not a significant predictor of student success.

 H_{a2} : Dialogue (learner-learner interaction) is a significant predictor of student success.

RQ3: Is dialogue (learner–instructor interaction) a significant predictor of student success?

 H_{03} : Dialogue (learner–instructor interaction) is not a significant predictor of student success.

 H_{a3} : Dialogue (learner–instructor interaction) is a significant predictor of student success.

RQ4: Is dialogue (learner–content interaction) a significant predictor of student success?

 H_{04} : Dialogue (learner–content interaction) is not a significant predictor of student success.

*H*₄: Dialogue (learner–content interaction) is a significant predictor of student success.

Research Questions 1–4 were analyzed using ordinal logistic regression. The initial plan for statistical analysis was to use a multiple linear regression to control for confounding variables. The survey used to collect data was formatted to collect multiple choice responses, as opposed to filling in a response. The outcome variable (GPA) was then categorized into five categories: (a) 4.0 or higher, (b) 3.0–3.99, (c) 2.0–2.99, (c) 1.0–1.99, and (e) less than 1.0. This change switched the outcome variable from a continuous variable to a categorical variable, requiring a shift in data analysis from a multiple linear regression to an ordinal logistic regression. The purpose of ordinal logistic regression is to predict the value of a categorized outcome variable based on predictor variables. In this study, student success (i.e., categorized GPA) as the outcome variable value was determined by whether online course modality (traditional online versus CBE online) and online dialogue (learner–learner, learner–instructor, learner–content) for the course were

predictive of student success. A G* power analysis indicated a minimum sample size of 100 was needed to reach statistical power of .80, a small effect size (odds ratio < 1.5 or Cohen's d of < .2 equivalent) with a statistical significance probability of less than .05.

Demographic information was collected for purposes of providing descriptive statistics (means and standard deviations) and identifying potential confounding variables. One demographic variable identified as being potentially a confounding variable was financial aid. That is, there was a high probability that participants could have received financial aid, based on data from the NCES (2018). Dropping a course or withdrawing from a course can lead to various negative consequences for those using financial aid. Therefore, the ramifications of dropping a course could influence a student's decision whether to do so. Other demographic information was also collected. If any other variables appeared to be confounding (i.e., through a series of Pearson correlations of the potential confounds and the outcome variable to determine any significant correlations), then they were also planned to be included as controlling variables in the statistical analysis. If the controlled variables were statistically significant, a post hoc analysis of that segment of the data was planned using multiple linear regression to determine its impact on the outcome variable.

Theoretical Framework

In the theory of transactional distance, Moore's (1997) argued that there is not only a geographical distance that exists between learners and instructors, but also a psychological distance. According to Moore, there are three components of transactional distance: dialogue, structure, and autonomy. Moore further explained dialogue as twoway communication and interaction that occurs in the online learning process. Moore identified three components of dialogue: learner–learner, learner–instructor, and learner– content interactions. The current study's goal was to examine the role of dialogue (learner–learner, learner–instructor, and learner–content interactions) in student success.

Nature of the Study

The purpose of this study was to determine whether online course modality (traditional online or CBE online) predict student success. The purpose was also determined whether dialogue (learner–learner, learner–instructor, and learner–content interaction) predict student success.

Data were collected from students in both traditional online courses and those in CBE online courses. The nature of the study was quantitative with a nonexperimental design. This design allowed for statistical comparison of two preexisting groups: traditional online and CBE online students. Student success was measured using the final course grade (0.0–4.0). The first independent or predictor variable was course modality (traditional, CBE). Participants self-identified in the demographic survey as being a traditional online student or a CBE online student (having completed a course, successfully or unsuccessfully, within the last 6 months). The second independent or predictor variable was dialogue (learner–learner, learner–instructor, learner–content interactions). Dialogue was measured using the DELES because this instrument provides separate numerical scores for each type of dialogue: learner–learner, learner–instructor, and learner–content interactions. Participants were given information about the purpose

of the study, confidentiality, expectations for participation, the voluntary nature of the study, and contact information for Walden University and for me.

Definition of Terms

The following terms and parameters are defined as used in the study:

Asynchronous learning: Learning that occurs online and where students perform work independently without immediate feedback or live interactions with others. The learner and the instructor are not interacting at the same time or in the same place.

Competency-based education (CBE): A course in higher education that meets the following criteria: exclusively online, student paced, course completion within 6 months, and competency assessments to demonstrate mastery.

Higher education: Coursework completed after completing high school at a college or university.

Student success: The final course grade based on a 4-point scale.

Traditional online course: A course in higher education that is held exclusively online.

Assumptions

There were several assumptions in this study. One assumption was that the DELES accurately and effectively measures the three components of Moore's (1997) dialogue construct: learner–learner interaction, learner–teacher interaction, and learner– content interaction. There was also an assumption that students who did not pass their most recently completed course are equally as likely to participate in the study. I also assumed that each student was enrolled with the intention of completing necessary

competencies and/or requirements within the required time frame. Another assumption was that the student participants honestly and accurately reported information.

There was also the assumption that one or more demographic variables could be confounding. For example, based on national averages (Hanson, 2021), nearly 85% of college students receive financial aid. To continue to receive aid, a student must complete the course; whether the individual passed or failed the course impacts GPA and student success. Therefore, financial aid was considered a confounding variable and one to control in the analyses. However, if any other demographic variable (e.g., age, gender) appeared to be confounding through data trends, they too also included as a controlling variable in the statistical analysis. If a controlling variable was significant, a post hoc analysis was planned for that variable to determine whether the set of predictors for this subset was different from the pool of participants.

Had multiple linear regression been used, there was an assumption that variables were normally distributed and free of outliers. There needed to be a normal distribution of scores. If there were outliers, data entry error could be assessed. If the error was not due to data entry, data cleaning could be used (see Tabachnick & Fidell, 2000). According to Osborne (2001), the removal of outliers can reduce the probability of Type I and Type II errors. Second, there was an assumption of a linear relationship between the dependent variable and the independent variable. When plotting the data on a scatterplot, the line of best fit should have represented all data points. If the relationships were not linear, regression results could underestimate the relationship (Osborne & Waters, 2002). Nonlinearity must be accounted for. Third, there was an assumption that the variables were reliable measures without error. The testing instrument used for this study had been vetted by other researchers. Walker and Fraser (2005) tested the DELES on 680 online students. They reported alpha reliability coefficients that ranged from 0.75 to 0.94. which meant that the measure was reliable or that there was internal consistency. Fourth, there was an assumption of no multicollinearity. When there is multicollinearity, there are two or more predictor variables that are strongly correlated with each other, and the effect of the individual predictor variable cannot be separated from the other. Finally, there was an assumption of homoscedasticity, that variance in errors is the same across all predictor variables. This means that the level of error or variance is constant and that it does not change in response to changes in the predictor variables. Heteroscedasticity can be reduced with transformation of variables (Osborne & Waters, 2002).

Because of a needed change in the type of regression analysis due to a change in the outcome variable from continuous to categorical, there were four assumptions that needed testing in the use of ordinal logistic regression. The first assumption was the dependent or outcome variable was ordered. The second assumption was that the independent or predictor variables were continuous, categorical, or ordinal. The third assumption was that the relationship between the predictor variables was the same across all combinations involving the outcome variable. This is known as the proportional odds, which means the odds ratios must be the same across all categories in these relationships. Finally, I assumed that two or more predictors were not highly correlated to one another, which is the assumption of no multicollinearity. Each of these assumptions was tested, and results are presented in Chapter 4.

Scope and Delimitations

I aimed to determine whether online course modality (traditional online or CBE online) predicts student success (final course grade). I also aimed to determine whether dialogue (learner-learner, learner-instructor, and learner-content interaction) predicts student success (final course grade). The population parameters included any online student over the age of 18 years who had completed a traditional online or CBE online course (successfully or unsuccessfully). The recruitment plan allowed for a diverse group of students. Participation in the study was not limited to any school or geographical region, thereby increasing the likelihood of a diverse population. A diverse population allowed for increased generalizability, thereby increasing external validity. Threats to internal validity that were relevant to this study may have resulted from lack of experimental manipulation, lack of random assignment, and lack of randomization. Random assignment was not possible because the group assignment was preestablished. Participants were either traditional online students or CBE online students. I limited participation to students over the age of 18 due to differences in academic preferences that are due to cognitive and developmental differences (see Boccia et al., 2019). Some aspects of the study that may have increased internal validity were the inherently low risk of attrition or room for experimenter bias. Participation required a one-time submission of the demographic survey and DELES, which were submitted together. There was no risk for attrition. Experimenter bias was eliminated with anonymous submission.

Limitations

A potential challenge was the possibility of a lower response rate from students who did not pass their course. Also, traditional online programs are more common than CBE programs; therefore, there was a chance that recruitment might result in a higher proportion of traditional online students. Another potential limitation was that financial aid could be a confounding variable. Students who receive federal aid, grants, and/or scholarships could be compelled to remain enrolled in a course to avoid the responsibility of paying back any money received, as opposed to dropping or withdrawing from the course. These potentially negative outcomes could influence a student's decision to complete a course. For this reason, financial aid was controlled for in the statistical analyses. In addition to financial aid, other demographic information was collected. If any of these variables appeared to be confounding variables, statistical analysis was planned to determine whether they were significant controlling variables. Chen and Hossler (2017) found that financial aid reduced dropout rates but was not a significant motivator for timely degree completion. In a more recent study, Pretlow et al. (2020) examined persistence, attainment, withdrawal, and transfer rates for first-time postsecondary students. This study incorporated a wide range of variables.

Significance of the Study

This study contributed to the literature, and may inform policy to increase online student success. The study may also be used to provide nontraditional, underrepresented higher education students with a higher likelihood of success. Through the examination of variables that can impact student success, such as dialogue and course modality, instructors will have information that can be used to improve course format and delivery. These improvements could boost the success of online students in their academic pursuits, specifically nontraditional and underrepresented students. Additionally, in light of the COVID-19 pandemic, most higher education students are being forced to adapt to online learning (Torun, 2020). The results of the current study could contribute to the literature that informs online instruction.

CBE provides educational flexibility by offering a student-paced environment in which demonstrated competency is valued over the traditional seat-time requirement. There is empirical support for the efficacy of CBE programs (Marcus, 2017; Mayeshiba et al., 2018). For instance, Marcus (2017) reported that a higher proportion of graduates of a CBE program report that what they learned prepared them for life, as compared to those in a traditional course format. Marcus also found that a higher percentage of graduates from a CBE program reported that what they had learned applied directly to their work. Furthermore, results indicated that 99%–100% of employers of CBE graduates reported that CBE graduates met or exceeded job expectations and that they were prepared for their jobs. Results also indicated that CBE graduates had a higher success rate on teacher certification exams and professional licensing exams. Another study addressed critical thinking skills in CBE students as compared to traditional students. Results indicated that CBE students scored significantly higher on measures of critical thinking (Mayeshiba et al., 2018).

Implementation of CBE programs in higher education is influenced by external factors such as the U.S. Department of Education Title IV financial aid funding approval,

legislative policies enacted by the Education Commission of the States, and accrediting institutions (L. Anderson, 2018). External validation and approval by these agencies are required for degrees from higher education institutions to be recognized and applicable for licensing and occupational purposes. Additionally, approval by the U.S. Department of Education allows students to apply for federal financial aid. Despite the bureaucratic obstacles in the institutional implementation of CBE programs, CBE is one of the fastest growing areas in online education (Krause et al., 2015). Online education is growing at an exponential rate (Allen & Seaman, 2017; NCES, 2018). Although enrollment in online education continues to increase, attrition rates in online programs are consistently higher than in traditional face-to-face courses (Peck et al., 2018; Radovan, 2019). As colleges and universities continue to enroll students in their online programs, there is an institutional responsibility to identify strategies to reduce attrition in online programs.

One vital component of retention is the integration of dialogue embedded within course design (T. Anderson, 2003; O'Rielly & Newton, 2002; Sung & Mayer, 2012). The present study focused on a rapidly growing demand in higher education (online CBE programs) and the integration of dialogue as a potential strategy for improving student success in online programs. Results from this study contributed to the literature that informs the institutional implementation of online CBE programs. Results may help to inform the instructional design of online CBE courses.

Summary

Chapter 1 provided an overview of the history and steady growth of online education. The problem of lower student success in online programs was examined. CBE was introduced as a form of online education that is potentially a solution for improving these negative outcomes in online programs. The various modalities of CBE were explained. Chapter 1 also provided an overview of the literature that addressed risk factors and protective factors for student success in online programs. The theoretical foundation for the study was introduced: Moore's (1997) theory of transactional distance, specifically the dialogue construct. The importance of dialogue within education was examined. Additionally, the nature of the study, definitions of terms, assumptions, scope, delimitations, and limitations were also addressed. Lastly, the significance of the study was provided: to increase student success within online higher education.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

Although enrollment in online higher education courses continues to steadily increase (NCES, 2018), colleges and universities are faced with consistently higher attrition rates in these programs (Allen & Seaman, 2017; Peck et al., 2018; Radovan, 2019). CBE is growing phenomenon within higher education (Gallagher, 2014; Nodine, 2016) and is considered by some policymakers to be a potential solution to the problem of higher attrition rates in online courses (Lacey & Murray, 2015). The literature on CBE is extensive; however, there were some gaps in the literature that the current study addressed. A goal of this study was to compare student success for traditional online courses and CBE online courses. This study also included an investigation of the role of dialogue in student success. Dialogue is composed of three constructs: learner–learner interactions, learner–instructor interactions, and learner–content interactions. Lastly, the differences in demographic profiles of CBE online students and traditional online students were reviewed.

This chapter provides a review of the literature that supported the purpose of the present study. Initially, there is an examination of the literature that broadly focused on online education in higher education. There is also exploration of the problem of lower student success in online programs, and the literature on online student demographics is examined. Then there is a thorough review of the literature on CBE including trends, student demographics, empirical support, student success, and the strengths and weaknesses of CBE programs. Following the examination of the literature on CBE, the theoretical framework is discussed, followed by Moore's model of transactional distance

and the role of dialogue. Lastly, the DELES assessment to measure student perceptions of dialogue is explored. I also examine the connection between the DELES and Moore's model of dialogue.

Literature Search Strategy

The literature review for this study was conducted using EBSCOhost and Google Scholar. Apart from seminal works, the date range was limited to 2015–2020. The key search terms that were used independently and in combination included *CBE*, *competency-based education, distance learning, distance education, e-learning, online education, online learning, higher education, post-secondary education, retention, attrition, student success, student outcomes, final course grades, student demographics, social interaction, transactional distance theory, Moore's model of interaction, learnerlearner dialogue, learner-instructor dialogue, DELES, distance education learning environment survey, social interaction assessment, course modality, course design, student protective factors, student-student interactions, learner-learner interactions, student-instructor interactions, learner-instructor interactions, learnerinteractions, satisfaction, and student risk factors.*

Theoretical Framework

The theory of transactional distance (Moore, 1997) is one that describes a phenomenon that is unique to online education. Online education presents a geographical distance between learners and instructors, as well as a psychological distance. Moore and Kearsley (1996) defined transactional distance as "the gap of understanding and communication between teachers and learners caused by a geographic distance that must be bridged through distinctive procedures in the instructional design and facilitation of interaction" (p. 223). The theory of transactional distance is both accepted and debated, and one that has been widely studied (Reyes, 2013). An asynchronous, text-based, online learning environment can lead to transactional distance in the form of feeling isolated and disconnected (Bostock, 2018; Byrd, 2016, Estes, 2016). Studies have found that this transactional distance can lead to lowered motivation and student engagement, which can result in attrition (Bostock, 2018; Byrd, 2016, Estes, 2016). Studies have also found that a primary reason for online dropout is a sense of isolation and a lack of interactions with others (Ali & Smith, 2015; Bowers & Kumar, 2015). Tinto (1997) argued that student engagement is the most important method for increasing online student retention.

Moore (1997) described three components of transactional distance: dialogue, structure, and autonomy. Moore explained dialogue as the positive and reciprocal interactions that occur between learners and instructors, and as two-way communication that includes all forms of interaction. There are three components of dialogue: learner– instructor, learner–learner, and learner–content interactions (Moore, 1997). Walker (2020), the developer of the DELES, described dialogue using the term "relationship." Walker posited that "while psychosocial learning environments can be influenced by the technology, they are contingent upon the instructor applying such technology for positive communication, support, and structure of interactions, both student-instructor, and student-student" (pp. 1–2). Walker defined learner–instructor interactions as instructional support that includes being approachable and giving prompt feedback. Walker described learner–learner interactions as having an opportunity to interact, collaborate, and exchange information. In the present study, the role of dialogue (learner–instructor, learner–learner, and learner–content interactions) was examined to determine its role in student retention in traditional online and CBE online courses.

The second component of transactional distance theory is structure. Moore (1997) described structure in a dualistic manner: the rigidity or flexibility that exists within an online course. Rigidity and flexibility can be observed in various aspects of a course, such as course objectives, teaching strategies, methods of evaluation, accommodation, and responding to the needs of an individual learner (Moore, 1997). In the present study, structure was examined by comparing two course modalities: CBE online courses (which provide more flexibility) and traditional online courses (which are more rigid).

The third and final component of transactional distance theory is learner autonomy. Autonomy is determined by the roles of the learner and the instructor in the learning process, for instance, who is setting the learning goals, directing the learning experience, and determining the evaluative methods (Moore, 1997). Walker (2020) described learner autonomy as "the extent to which students have opportunities to initiate ideas and make their own learning decisions, and the locus of control is student-oriented" (p. X). In the present study, there was an assumption that perceived autonomy would be determined by course modality. In a CBE course, the learner takes an active role in designing the course format, while in a traditional online course these elements are typically established by the instructor.

There is a causal relationship that exists between the three parts of transactional distance. According to Bostock (2020), when there is a high level of structure, there tends

to be a low level of dialogue, which requires a higher degree of student autonomy. Bostock contended that instructors must determine the most appropriate balance of structure and dialogue within a course. Huang et al. (2016) contended that heightened structure and heightened dialogue were the most impactful solutions to reducing transactional distance.

Literature Review

The literature review is broken down into five content areas: online education, student success in online programs, CBE, the role of dialogue and interaction in online courses, and an overview of the DELES.

Online Education

Online course enrollment in higher education continues to steadily rise (James et al., 2016). Approximately 30% of higher education students are currently enrolled in at least one online course (NCES, 2018). According to Allen and Seaman (2017), national enrollment in online higher education courses has increased every year for 14 consecutive years. Allen and Seaman (2016) also reported that 14% of higher education students are exclusively online. Although enrollment in face-to-face classes decreased by 3% between 2012 and 2015, online enrollment experienced an 11% increase during this time (Allen & Seaman, 2017). Allen et al. (2016) reported that enrollment in online programs continued to grow despite a decline in overall higher education enrollment. Oregon et al. (2018) argued that the biggest challenge in higher education is student retention in online programs. Dropout rates in online programs are becoming an increasing problem (Brubacher & Silinda, 2019). Boton and Gregory (2015) reported that heightened attrition
in online programs is a worldwide problem. This growth may be partially explained by the opportunities that online courses offer students who might otherwise be deterred by obstacles such as employment, geographical location, and/or family obligations. Additionally, in response to the COVID-19 pandemic, most higher education students were forced to transition to online learning (Torun, 2020). More than ever, it became imperative to identify strategies to increase the success of online students.

Student Success

Despite the growing popularity of online education, there is a concern with student attrition rates. Online programs have had higher rates of attrition when compared to face-to-face programs (Bawa, 2016; Gering et al., 2018; Qayyum et al., 2018; Yang et al., 2017). Students in blended courses and face-to-face courses have had significantly higher odds of being retained when compared to fully online students (James et al., 2016). Rubio et al. (2018) found lower levels of participation and grades in online students as compared to their face-to-face counterparts. Glazier (2016) found that there was a higher incidence of withdrawals in online programs, as well as lower grades. In contrast, Allen et al. (2016) reported that although there was higher attrition in online programs, student performance was comparable between online students and face-to-face students. Sorensen and Donovan (2017) reported that the primary reasons for dropout tend to be different for students who drop out early in the course compared to those who drop out later in the course. Sorensen and Donovan found students who drop out early typically drop out due to academic performance, while those who drop out later typically do so because of nonacademic reasons. Additionally, Wladis et al. (2016) reported that

online students were more likely to drop out as compared to face-to-face students. Wladis et al. also discovered that being foreign-born or having a child under the age of 6 predicted lower rates of successful course completion. In addition to lower retention rates, there was also evidence to support lower student performance in fully online programs (Lockman & Schirmer, 2020). Similarly, Hurlbut (2018) found that face-toface students had higher grades as compared to online students. Lastly, Athens (2018) found that more online students (8.9%) withdrew from their online courses as compared to those who were in face-to-face courses (5.6%).

Several researcher have explored reasons for lower retention rates in online courses as compared to face-to-face courses. Many of these studies have identified variables that may explain the lower retention rates in online education, including student variables, instructional design, and institutional variables (Bloemer et al., 2018; Bradley et al., 2017; Brubacher & Silinda, 2019; Chang & Hannafin, 2015; Cipher et al., 2017; Lehan et al., 2018; Matthias et al., 2019; Peck et al., 2018; Robichaud, 2016; Simplicio, 2019; Tinto, 2006; Watson et al., 2017; Wladis et al., 2016; Wolff et al., 2014). Although Gering et al. (2018) found that there were lower retention rates in online programs, they also found that there were higher retention and persistence rates in online programs when there was high teaching presence and social support. In an extensive review of the literature, Lockman and Schirmer (2020) found higher student achievement and satisfaction when the following components were present: utilization of multiple pedagogies, feedback from the instructor and from peers, user-friendly tools, high instructional presence, promotion of socialization, and group trust. Gering et al. found that there were higher retention and persistence rates based on perceived academic support. Robichaud (2016) found that orientation programs increased online student retention in community colleges. In summary, there is evidence of lower retention in online programs (Gering et al., 2018), but there are also certain course/program components that have been linked to greater success for online students (Lockman & Schirmer, 2020).

Extensive research has been conducted to identify student characteristics that are associated with attrition. James et al. (2016) found that there was lower retention in younger students without Pell grants. James et al. also concluded that older student age is a predictor of student success. Cochran et al. (2014) found that the highest risk for withdrawal was during the freshman year, and that there was a steady decrease in risk each year thereafter. Gering et al. (2018) found that there were higher retention and persistence rates based on GPA, class standing, degree level, and race. In another study, Firat and Bozkurt (2020) examined online student readiness as a predictor of success. They found increased readiness in female students who were over the age of 47 and spent 5 to 6 hours a day online. Lowered readiness was found in students who spent less than 2 hours a day online and who were unemployed. Bloemer et al. (2018) identified four predictor variables for student success: GPA, student type, current academic life cycle, and prior cumulative drop-fail-withdraw rate. In another study by Cipher et al. (2017), variables were identified that were correlated with a higher likelihood of graduation and more timely graduation. These variables included utilization of financial aid, younger students, and having a previous baccalaureate degree. Wolff et al. (2014) found that

student employment influenced student success. Wolff et al. found that 75% of students who worked fewer than 12 hours a week successfully completed their course and passed their final exam, compared to 40% of the student who worked more than 12 hours a week. Sorensen and Donovan (2017) reported variables that contribute to student dropout, which included lack of support and misjudgment of abilities to balance multiple priorities. Similarly, Wladis et al. (2016) found a higher risk of dropout in online students who are native-born and who have a child under the age of 6. Yang et al. (2017) identified the following personal attributes as being associated with increased retention: having career goals related to technology, time and effort invested, and student perception of the utility of learning. Lastly, Shaw et al. (2016) reported three variables that increased the likelihood of attrition in online learning: verbal learning style, physical learning style, and personal attributes such as procrastination.

Although some studies provided support for higher attrition rates in online courses, there were some discrepancies in the literature. James et al. (2016) argued that much of the variance in online versus face-to-face attrition rates can be explained by extraneous factors, namely student age and experience. James et al. reported that older, more experienced students had higher retention rates in online courses and that younger and newer students had lower retention rates in online courses. When age and experience were accounted for, James et al. found that there was not a significant difference in retention rates between online and face-to-face courses. There were gaps in the literature regarding online retention rates. Hurlbut (2018) argued that there is a lack of substantial research to compare undergraduate online programs to comparable groups. The current study was conducted to fill this gap by comparing traditional online courses to CBE online courses.

Protective Factors

Extensive research had been conducted to identify protective factors that increase the likelihood of online student success. Lockman and Schirmer (2020) reviewed 104 empirical studies that identified effective instruction strategies. They found that some strategies were effective in both an online format and the face-to-face format. These strategies included use of multiple pedagogies and learning resources, high instructor presence, the quality of instructor-student interactions, academic support outside of the classroom, and promotion of class cohesion. Lockman and Schirmer also identified some effective instructional strategies that were unique to the online format: user-friendly technology, orientation to online instruction, synchronous class session options, and the incorporation of social media. Other studies identified student motivation as a strong protective factor (Brubacher & Silinda, 2019; Politis & Politis, 2016). Kirmizi (2015) found that motivation was the most important predictor of student satisfaction, and that self-directed learning was the most important predictor of student success. In contrast, other studies found that motivation did not predict student satisfaction or outcomes (Boton & Gregory, 2015; Eom & Ashill, 2016). Bradley et al. (2017) found that student self-efficacy and self-regulation skills could predict student success. Qayyum at al. (2018) reported that scholarship-receiving students with more financial need were twice as likely to persist in online programs. Vella et al. (2016) identified the following

protective factors: age (older), female, being a graduate student, and having a part-time academic course load.

Online Student Demographics

Although there is evidence to support the assertion that older, more experienced students tend to be more successful in online courses (James et al., 2016), there is some discrepancy in the literature about online student demographics. Wladis et al. (2016) found that online students are typically female, married, active military, financially independent, and delayed in college enrollment. Other studies found that online students tend to have more academic preparation, have higher GPAs, be White, and be more likely to use financial aid (Jaggars & Xu, 2010; Xu & Jaggars, 2011). The NCES (2018) reported that in the 2015–2016 school year, the average student in a fully online program was female, Black, 30 years of age or older, attending part-time, employed, independent with dependents, and married. Wolff et al. (2014) reported that most online student participants in their study were older, worked more hours, and were primary caregivers as compared to their face-to-face counterparts. In another study, Wladis et al. (2016) reported that online students tended to be women, Hispanic, and older; they had children, had an income of less than \$20,000 per year, had parents with a high school diploma, were not born in the United States, and had a GPA between 3.5 and 4.0. Athens (2018) found some variance in outcomes based on student demographics. Hispanic and Black students tended to be more engaged but had lower grades, and younger students with disabilities tended to be less engaged but have equivalent grades. The current study filled

a gap in the literature by collecting and comparing demographic data of students from traditional online and CBE online programs.

CBE

Competency-based education (CBE) is a variant of online education, and one that has gained significant attention in recent years (Kelly & Columbus, 2016). Although CBE emerged in the 1970s (Parson et al., 2016), it recently gained momentum because of technological advancements in online education (Baker, 2016). CBE has become one of the fastest-growing areas in online education (Krause et al., 2015). The expansion of CBE programs has been of interest to federal and state policymakers, because of some of its potential advantages (Lacey & Murray, 2015). Policymakers regularly identify CBE as a promising strategy to decrease student attrition (Parson et al., 2016). The National Center for Education Statistics (2018) reports that there are currently over 600 post-secondary institutions that are implementing CBE programs. CBE is an attempt to make higher education more efficient, economical, and relevant to occupational goals (Gallagher, 2014; Nodine, 2016). CBE is designed to maximize the success of adult learners (Tolliver et al., 2018). Additionally, advocates of civil rights and women's liberation have revered CBE as a means of social empowerment (Elbow, 1979). Riesman (1979) further argued that CBE provides opportunities for traditionally excluded groups in higher education. From a more contemporary stance, Wu and Lewis (2019) argued that CBE curriculum within baccalaureate programs could provide opportunities for students to gain employment and narrow the divide between students with and without financial and nonfinancial resources.

Some of these programs serve large student populations. For instance, Western Governors University, which is fully CBE, had over 50,000 in 2014 (Nodine, 2016). In addition to the past and current growth of CBE programs, experts predict that CBE has a strong future growth trajectory (Nodine, 2016). There is also a large subcategory of CBE, competency-based medical education (CBME). According to Boyd et al. (2018), CBME has become the primary approach in medical education within the last two decades. CBE has also been utilized for professional development opportunities (Sargeant et al., 2018).

While there are various modalities of CBE, at its core, it is based on meeting competencies, as opposed to the traditional seat-time standard (Competency-Based Education Network, 2017; Gallagher, 2014; Marcus, 2017). Baker (2016) describes CBE as a focus on material learned, as opposed to time served. Gallagher (2014) conceptualizes CBE as taking a "hyper-individualization" approach. CBE programs are flexible and are founded on student mastery, as opposed to a set amount of time that students are required to learn (Mayeshiba & Brower, 2017). Hilliard et al. (2018) identify four distinguishing components of CBE that set it apart from traditional education: flexibility, customization, mastery, and transparency. CBE offers flexibility by allowing for a learner-paced educational experience. Competencies and mastery are demonstrated when the learner is ready. Curricula are designed around identified competencies (Competency-Based Education Network, 2017).

Some CBE programs are offered in a hybrid format, but the vast majority are exclusively online (Parson et al., 2016). Students are often allowed to customize their learning experience. Course plans are highly individualized (Baker, 2016). Many programs encourage students to identify and select their resources (Baker, 2016). Often, the program will provide a master resource of various materials from which the student can select from (Baker, 2016). The master resource library may include various written materials, videos, taped lectures, and other learning formats (Baker, 2016). CBE provides a transparent curriculum that highlights connections between learning and career goals (Hilliard et al., 2018). Identified competencies are based on skills that are required in a student's targeted job (Baker, 2016).

Demonstration of competency can be achieved in various modalities. These modalities fit into one of two measures: prior learning or mastery of new content (Baker, 2016). One competency modality, based on mastery of new content, is course-based learning (Baker, 2016; Clerkin & Simon, 2014). This modality may include tests that are remotely proctored, projects, and/or essays (Baker, 2016). This modality can be very similar to traditional course formats. The difference is that CBE programs are self-paced by learners, as opposed to an instructor determining deadlines within a set semester. Another CBE modality, based on prior learning, is non-course work, competency-based exams. Some programs allow students to demonstrate competency by taking an exam (Baker, 2016). There is a fee for taking the exam and students are generally given a specified amount of time to prepare for the exam, after registration (Baker, 2016). Another CBE modality, also based on prior learning, is to allow students to transfer various credits from prior academic institutions. Typically, these credits were earned by students, without earning a degree (Baker, 2016). One last CBE modality for demonstrating competency, which is also based on prior learning, is a non-coursework,

prior learning assessment (PLA). Prior experience can be gained in various ways, most commonly military experience, professional licensure or certification, self-study, and/or training (Baker, 2016). Students may demonstrate competency under this model by submitting a portfolio petition to highlight prior learning and alignment with course competencies (Baker, 2016). Students may also take PLAs to demonstrate competency. CBE course outcomes can also vary. Some program outcomes provide students with competency-based transcripts that are generally used to secure employment (Baker, 2016). Other programs provide credit-based transcripts that are typically used to advance to another academic program (Baker, 2016).

CBE requires a phenomenological transition for academic institutions and educators. Hoogveld et al. (2005) contended that educators need to shift from being "knowledge transmitters" to the role of an educational coach. Typically, faculty are assigned cohorts in CBE, as opposed to classes (Marcus, 2017). Typical responsibilities include teaching, testing, and developing competencies, which requires coordination and communication with potential employers (Marcus, 2017). Some institutions that offer CBE increase instructional accountability by having one instructor develop the curriculum, another instructor to teach the material, and yet another instructor to test the students (Marcus, 2017). Baker (2016) argued that the role of faculty in CBE programs is often deconstructed and that students typically have more engagement with course mentors, and non-faculty staff and advisors.

CBE Demographics

CBE programs offer certificates, associate degrees, bachelor's degrees, and master's degrees (Parson et al., 2016). These programs are found in various sectors: public, private, and for-profit institutions (Parson et al., 2016). CBE student demographics are assumed to be comparable to the demographics of traditional online students. Kelly and Columbus (2016) contended that there is a gap in the literature concerning accurate information about CBE student demographics. Despite the gap in the literature, CBE courses generally accommodate non-traditional students (Kelly & Columbus, 2016). An example of this is Capella University's FlexPath program, which is geared towards working professionals who are trying to advance their careers (Baker, 2016). Baker (2016) defines non-traditional students as those who are over the age of 25, are employed, and who have family responsibilities. Kelchan (2016) found that in a sample of 140,000 CBE students, only one in 10 were under the age of 25 and that 50% of these students were enrolled part-time. Some of the literature suggests that CBE students are typically adults (68-99%), female (50-84%), and have prior experience in higher education (70%) (Parson et al., 2016). Roughly 30% of CBE students use Pell grants, which is 10% more than traditional students (Parson et al., 2016).

CBE Empirical Support

Various studies have been conducted to evaluate the effectiveness of CBE programs. Kelly and Columbus (2016) evaluated 380 articles that focused on CBE between 1996 and 2015. They found that 25% were quantitative, 60% were qualitative, and 12% were literature reviews. In these studies, the majority focused on policy and

market environment, descriptive design, and prescriptive design components, while fewer studies explored student characteristics, student outcomes, assessment, educational theory, and/or history. One study compared CBE courses to traditional online courses and found that there are specific variables that predict success; quality and relevance of resources, providing increased support, ongoing feedback, and offering students opportunities to practice what they have learned (Krause et al., 2015). Mayeshiba et al. (2018) found support for higher critical thinking skills in CBE students over traditional students. Another study by Marcus (2017), found that a higher proportion of CBE graduates reported that what was learned in their program prepared them for life and that they were able to apply what they learned to their career when compared to traditional graduates. Marcus (2017) also reported that a higher percentage of employers indicated that CBE graduates met or exceeded their job responsibilities and were fully prepared for their roles, as compared to traditional graduates. Additionally, Marcus (2017) found that a higher percentage of CBE graduates successfully passed their professional certification and licensing exams. Studies have also examined student response and satisfaction with CBE programs. Parson et al. (2016) reported that student satisfaction in CBE courses was equal to, or higher than student satisfaction in traditional courses. Other studies have looked at identifying which students are most likely to benefit from CBE programs. One such study found that CBE programs are best suited for students who have other responsibilities, and who want to advance or accelerate their career (Marcus, 2017). In review, the literature indicates that most CBE studies have been qualitative and have not focused on student demographics (Kelly & Columbus, 2016). This study fills a gap by

using a quantitative design and examining student characteristics. While there have been studies that have compared traditional and CBE outcomes, these studies have not compared retention rates and the impact of dialogue.

Studies have also identified problems with CBE programs. One study argued four main problems with CBE programs; flexible pacing can stall progress for some learners, online delivery models have weak outcomes for unprepared learners, assessment can create a high-risk environment that can create test anxiety for some students, and accurately aligning competencies to future employment possibilities (Hilliard et al., 2018). Studies have also identified inconsistencies. Parson et al. (2016) found substantial variability in CBE design, pricing, student pace requirements, and how CBE programs are situated within higher education institutions.

While many studies have been conducted to examine the efficacy of CBE programs, there are some inconsistent findings and gaps within the literature. Parson et al. (2016) contended that there is a lack of data about the quality of education provided by CBE programs. Parson et al. (2016) also argued that there is also a need for better evidence to support student outcomes and that this should be done by focusing on observable student outcomes and comparison to traditional programs, as opposed to successful passing of certification or licensing exams. Additionally, Kelly and Columbus (2016) urge for further research in two specific areas; evaluating how student demographics vary between CBE courses and traditional students.

CBE Student Success

There are mixed and varied findings regarding student success in CBE programs. Some studies report 15 to 80% retention rates in CBE, and 2 to 10% higher retention rates in CBE programs as opposed to traditional programs (Association of American Colleges and Universities, 2016). Another study reported that first-to-second term retention rates in CBE programs range from 68 to 83% and that CBE retention rates varied from 13% below retention rates to 16% above traditional retention rates (Kelly & Columbus, 2016). The average retention rate for 2- and 4-year institutions is 74% for fulltime students and 44% for part-time students (Integrated Postsecondary Education Data System, 2012). There is vast discrepancy in the statistical comparison of CBE and traditional courses, which represents a gap in the literature. A variety of variables have been identified in the literature as being relevant. Many of these variables have been incorporated into the demographic survey.

Parson et al. (2016) argued that there is a lack of clarity regarding student outcomes in CBE programs. They also argue that there is a need to understand the key components that may affect CBE student outcomes, specifically concerning program design. Parson et al. (2016) also asserted that there is a need to establish valid comparison groups. In the process of establishing valid comparison groups, there are three vital factors. The first consideration is matching student demographics in comparison groups (Kelly & Columbus, 2016; Parson et al., 2016). When comparing CBE students to traditional students, researchers should attempt to compare groups with similar demographics. A second consideration is the identification of a common outcome or progression metric (Kelly & Columbus, 2016; Parson et al., 2016). Traditional courses have a specific start date, as well as a set completion date. This is not the case with CBE courses that are self-paced. Mayeshiba and Brower (2017) propose a six-month reenrollment standard for measuring retention in CBE courses. A third variable that should be considered when establishing comparison groups is the variance in student intentions and educational goals (Parson et al., 2016). Parson et al. (2016) contended that there are four types of CBE students; sprinters (those who move through the content quickly), flexers (who work at their own pace), frequent flyers (those who complete a few competencies, step out for a while, and then return later) and consistent enrollers (those who make steady progress without stopping). These differences in the goals and types of CBE students may possibly account for the mixed findings in CBE retention literature.

Strengths and Weaknesses of CBE

There are potential benefits to be gained from CBE design. Kelly and Columbus (2016) assert that higher education is under pressure to become more innovative and to make changes to address current problems, including cost, stagnant completion rates, and an uncertain labor market. CBE has the potential to lower the cost of education (Kelly & Columbus, 2016; Lacey & Murray, 2015; Parson et al., 2016), to decrease the amount of time it takes to complete a program (Kelly & Columbus, 2016), to provide access for underserved and underrepresented populations (Association of American Colleges and Universities, 2016; Lacey & Murray, 2015; Parson et al., 2016), to improve the quality of higher education (Lacey & Murray, 2015; Parson et al., 2016) and to boost successful completion rates (Kelly & Columbus, 2016; Parson et al., 2016). Policymakers have

recently focused on CBE as a potential solution for boosting student retention and enabling students to complete their degrees (Parson et al., 2016). CBE programs are flexible and work around the individual needs and interests of each student (Kelly & Columbus, 2016; Parson et al., 2016). The inherent flexibility allows students to participate who may not otherwise be able to complete a degree due to conflicting obligations and responsibilities. CBE plans are individualized and highly focused. One caveat of this modality is that students need to have clear occupational goals before entering a CBE program (Baker, 2016). Another noteworthy strength of CBE programs is that the students tend to report overall satisfaction with their program (Parson et al., 2016).

While there are several potential benefits and strengths of CBE programs, there are also some weaknesses and limitations with CBE. Goldman et al. (2018) argued that CBE takes a "reductionist approach to understanding complex human behavior" (p. 407). Similarly, Touchie and ten Cate (2016) identified three issues, an inability to conceptually model and measure physician-patient relationships, lack of valid assessment instruments, and the de-valuing of educators. Parson et al. (2016) argued that due to the self-paced nature of CBE, these programs will not necessarily save students money. Student efficiency is student-driven and can potentially take longer than traditional programs. Lacey and Murray (2015) pointed out the obstacles created by state and federal regulations. States regulate the number of credit hours required to obtain a degree, and in some states, these requirements are not conducive to CBE (Lacey & Murray, 2015). The same is true of many state-controlled professional licenses and certifications, which are

commonly contingent upon traditional credit hours (Lacey & Murray, 2015). Traditional credit hours can also influence public funding formulas (Lacey & Murray, 2015). On a larger scale, federal financial aid was directly tied to credit hours until 2005 (Lacey & Murray, 2015; Porter, 2016). Legislative policy changes discontinued federal financial aid reliance on traditional credit hours after 2005. According to Porter (2016), federal financial aid is still geared more towards traditional online programs that are based on credit hours. Some large CBE institutions, such as Western Governors University, have created equivalencies between competencies and credit hours (Porter, 2016).

Another limitation is the inconsistency in assessment, program review, and accreditation (Lacey & Murray, 2015). Lacey and Murray (2015) contended that postsecondary regulators need to develop a system of adequate oversight that also allows programs to evolve and be successful. One last limitation with CBE is the lack of social interaction. Gallagher (2014) argued that learning is highly social and warns that an emphasis on academic individualization comes at the expense of peer interaction, which is vital to learning.

Role of Dialogue and Interaction in Online Courses

Dialogue is a vital component of online education (Moore, 1997). Dialogue, part of Moore's theory of transactional distance, refers to the interactions that occur between the student and the instructor, other students, and the course content. Altinay (2017) agreed that social interactions play a significant role in the facilitation of online learning, as well as in the construction of knowledge. Further, Altinay (2017) argued that interactive learning is a critical component of the online learning process. Fostering effective communication and social interactions in online courses can be more difficult than traditional face-to-face courses. Brooks and Young (2016) reported that students in traditional courses have significantly more out-of-class communication with their instructors and peers compared to online students. Despite the inherent obstacles, fostering a strong sense of community in online learning environments is detrimental to the learning experience (Epp et al., 2017). Lockman and Schirmer (2020) conducted a review of 104 empirical studies published between 2013 and 2019 that aimed to identify effective instructional strategies in both online and face-to-face courses. High instructional presence and quality student-instructor interactions were identified as effective strategies in both online and face-to-face courses (Lockman & Schirmer, 2020). Eom and Ashill (2016) found that learner-instructor and learner-learner interactions were determinants of student satisfaction and student outcomes. Similarly, Collins et al. (2019) found that improved student engagement led to lower online attrition. Improved student engagement included an increased sense of connectedness and a decreased sense of isolation (Collins et al., 2019). Boton and Gregory (2015) further argued that pedagogy that fosters engagement can impact online attrition. Athens (2018) found a strong positive relationship between student perceptions of engagement and student outcomes (grades).

Specific to online instruction, synchronous session opportunities (Lockman & Schirmer, 2020) and the incorporation of social media to permit networking and socialization were also identified as effective online teaching strategies (Lockman & Schirmer, 2020; Quong et al., 2018). Social media platforms that have been identified as being successful in facilitating social interaction include Facebook, Twitter, Ning, YouTube, and blogs (Lockman & Schirmer, 2020; Sanderson, 2019; Quong et al., 2018). These strategies support Moore's assertion that dialogue is a vital component of online education (1997).

Bettinger et al. (2016) focused their research on learner-learner interactions. They found that when low engaging online students are exposed to more interactive and engaging peers, there were positive outcomes. These positive outcomes included improved grades, higher persistence rates, and a higher likelihood of passing the course. Lowenthal (2016) reported that the learner-instructor relationship is secondary to the importance of social interactions between learners. Additionally, Bettinger et al. (2016) contended that peers have a positive impact on individual productivity both in education and in the workforce. They also identified some trends in online student interactions. Female students and older students are more likely to interact with peers (Bettinger et al., 2016). Additionally, students are more likely to engage in interactions with peers of the same gender and geographic region (Bettinger et al., 2016). Other studies have concluded that learner-learner interactions need to be intentional and a deliberate part of instructional design. One such study suggested that online courses support and foster interactions between learners in a manner that is engaging and interactive (Joksimović et al., 2015). The quality and impact of learner-learner interactions can be influenced by secondary variables. Kuo and Belland (2016) found that learner-learner interactions are influenced by course-related variables, such as course length, course type, and the number of discussion forums. A high number of discussion forums within an online course is correlated with lower learner-learner interactions (Kuo & Belland, 2016).

Additionally, there is higher learner-learner interaction in advanced-level courses as compared to basic-level courses (Kuo & Belland, 2016). Lastly, accelerated courses tend to elicit higher learner-learner interactions (Kuo & Belland, 2016).

The second type of necessary social interaction in online learning are learnerinstructor interactions (Moore, 1989). While there is clear evidence to support the value of learner-learner interactions, some research suggests that learner-instructor interactions take precedence. A study by Epp et al. (2017) found that students in instructor-facilitated courses reported a stronger sense of community as compared to students in peerfacilitated courses. Phirangee et al. (2016) concluded that instructor social presence is more important than learner-learner interactions when it comes to overall student success. Collins et al. (2019) reported that instructional social presence may be the most important factor in reducing online attrition. Glazier (2016) argued that it is difficult to establish learner-instructor rapport in online programs, and that this can lead to lowered student success. The researcher also pointed out that when there is low learner-instructor rapport student are less likely to remember content and to prioritize the course. Glazier (2016) further reported lowered attrition and higher grades in online courses rapport-building courses. The elements of rapport-building courses included humanizing the instructor, providing detailed and student-specific feedback, making personal contact with students, and using humor (Glazier, 2016).

Research has also been conducted to explore variables that may influence learnerinstructor interactions. Kuo and Belland (2016) found that learner-instructor interactions are influenced by gender, age and hours spent online. Female students and students who

spend more time logged into class tend to have more interaction with their instructors (Kuo & Belland, 2016). In another study, Sadykova and Meskill (2019) tackled the issue of interculturality in online education. They contended that instructors must serve as a "cultural intermediary" between students. Additionally, Sadykoya and Meskill (2019) posited that learning is a social process and that online instruction should be designed in a way that learning can occur through interaction, with the instructor serving as a mediator. Other studies have proposed alternate methods of deliberate and intentional interactions. Hicks et al. (2019) suggested the development of a communication plan to serve as a blueprint for effective communication between instructors and students. They presented a prescription for interactions to be facilitated by the instructor. Some of these interactions included reaching out to inactive students, weekly podcasts, reminders, individual feedback, expression of appreciation, and praise for exemplary performance (Hicks, Gray, & Bond, 2019). Finally, Bowers and Kumar (2015) found that social interaction between learners and the instructor increased student engagement and lowered student attrition.

Distance Education Learning Environment Survey

The DELES was developed by Walker in 2003. It is a self-report questionnaire that focuses specifically on online learning environments. It is available in eight languages: Arabic, Malaysian, Mandarin, Persian, Portuguese, Spanish, Turkish and English. The DELES will be used to access dialogue (learner-instructor, learner-learner, and learner-content interactions). It was developed by Scott Walker with the intention "to understand learning environments, make program adjustments, and optimize the student learning experience (Walker, 2020, preface). More specifically, the DELES was developed to examine psychosocial components in online learning environments (Walker, 2020). In the DELES manual, Moore explains that "while learning environments can be influenced by the technology of the time, they are contingent upon the instructor applying such technology for positive communication, support, and structure of interactions, both student-instructor and student-student" (Walker, 2020, p. 1-2).

There are three versions of the DELES: actual, preferred, and instructor. The DELES actual version measures student perceptions of their current learning environment. The DELES preferred gathers information about what students would prefer in a course. Lastly, the DELES instructor version gathers information from an instructor about their perceptions in each course. This study employed the DELES actual version. The first subscale of the DELES (questions 1-8) elicits student feedback about perceived instructor support and will be used to measure learner-instructor interactions (Walker, 2020). The second subscale (questions 9-14) elicits student perceptions about student interaction and collaboration and will be used to measure learner-learner interactions (Walker, 2020). The third and fourth subscales (questions 15-26) elicit student perceptions about s learner-content interactions. The fifth and sixth subscales (questions 27-34) obtains student perceptions of student autonomy, and the extent to which they can make their own learning decisions (Walker, 2020). Lastly, the seventh subscale (questions 35-42) are questions related to student satisfaction. All items on the DELES are categorically scored: Never (1), Seldom (2), Sometimes (3), Often (4), and

Always (5). The DELES is then scored by calculating the mean score per section (Walker, 2020). Scores from different scales cannot be combined, which is advantageous, so that student interaction scores (questions 1-8) and the student-instructor interaction scores (questions 9-14) can be used as separate predictors in the logistic regression analyses.

Summary

Online education has steadily grown over the last couple of decades and further growth is projected (National Center for Education Statistics, 2018). While online programs are growing in popularity and demand, they are also faced with higher attrition rates when compared to traditional, face-to-face programs (Allen & Seaman, 2017; Peck et al., 2018; Radovan, 2019). Presently, CBE is the fastest growing sector of online education (Krause et al., 2015). Some policymakers believe that CBE has the potential to lower attrition rates in higher education (Lacey & Murray, 2015; Parson et al., 2016). While there is literature that has examined various aspects of CBE, there are significant gaps within the literature. There are some discrepancies within the literature about the demographic makeup of online students. Studies have not been conducted to examine the differences and similarities between traditional online students and CBE online students (Kelly & Columbus, 2016). Data from this study may help in filling that gap. Studies have been conducted to examine the efficacy of CBE programs. Kelly and Columbus (2016) found that there have been significantly fewer quantitative studies on CBE. This study took a quantitative approach to examine CBE. Additionally, there was a gap in the literature to examine CBE student outcomes (Association of American Colleges and

Universities, 2016). This research study examined CBE student outcomes compared to traditional online outcomes. The study also examined the role of dialogue using Moore's theory of transactional distance and dialogue as the theoretical foundation (1997). The literature supports that dialogue plays a vital role in online learning (Altinay, 2017; Bettinger et al., 2016). Information from this study may be used to fill a gap in the literature by applying Moore's theory to assess the role of dialogue in student success in both traditional online and CBE online programs. In Chapter 3 the methodology for this study is described.

Chapter 3: Research Method

The goal of this study was to identify whether online course modality (traditional online or CBE online) predicted student success. I also evaluated whether dialogue (learner–learner, learner–instructor, and learner–content interaction) predicted student success. Dialogue was measured using the DELES (Walker, 2003). It provided numerical subscores for learner–learner, learner–instructor, and learner–content interactions.

Course modality (traditional online, CBE online) and dialogue (learner–learner, learner–instructor, and learner–content interactions) served as the independent or predictor variables. Student success was the dependent or outcome variable, which was measured using the student's final course grade (on a 4-point scale) using the final course grade of the last course completed. A statistical regression analyses was conducted to determine whether the outcome (student success) was associated with any of the predictors (i.e., three kinds of dialogues) that could explain the outcome. A procedural change in the type of regression was made.

This study also addressed the kinds of individuals who are involved in the two online course types by comparing demographic profiles of traditional online students and CBE online students that was not addressed in the literature. Embedded in the demographic survey portion was course modality (CBE/traditional) and student retention information. Descriptive statistics were used to profile the kinds of students involved in these two course types. This chapter covers the research design and rationale, data collection procedures, instruments used, data analysis, participant information, threats to validity, and ethical considerations.

Research Design and Rationale

This study was unique regarding the combination of variables being explored. I examined lower retention rates in online programs, the discrepancies in the literature regarding online student demographics, variables that contribute to online student success, online versus CBE programs, and the role of dialogue using Moore's theory of transactional distance. Because there were no comparative studies, this study addressed gaps in the literature. The gaps addressed included gathering accurate CBE demographic information (Kelly & Columbus, 2016), meeting the need for a quantitative study to examine CBE (Kelly & Columbus, 2016; Parson et al., 2016), and an analysis of the role of dialogue in retention.

Multiple linear hierarchical regression was initially chosen because it was considered best suited for this study. In a multiple linear regression model, the predictive relationship between predictor/independent variables and the outcome/dependent variable can be assessed. The aim of this study was to determine whether several predictor variables including course modality (traditional online, CBE online) and types of dialogue (learner–learner, learner–instructor, and learner–content interactions) predict student success (successful course completion). However, a change in the outcome variable for student success from a continuous one to an ordinal one resulted in a change to ordinal logistic regression. This form of regression resembles multiple linear regression but does account for the categorical outcome variable. Additionally, I collected demographic data: information about the current/most recent course, current academic performance, gender, race, ethnicity, age, military experience, financial aid, previous college experience/performance, relationships, employment/professional experience, and basis for choosing program (CBE versus traditional).

Financial aid was one demographic variable that was of concern because it might correlate with other predictor variables. This concern was due to the high likelihood of participants using financial aid (NCES, 2018). If this had occurred, it would have been treated as a controlling variable in the statistical analysis. However, a high percentage who used financial aid did not occur.

The first independent or predictor variable in the present study was course modality, a binary variable. Two course modalities were examined: traditional online and CBE online. Information about course modality was obtained in the demographic survey. Participants self-identified as either a CBT online or traditional online student. The second independent or predictor variable was dialogue. There are three components to Moore's construct of dialogue: learner–learner, learner–instructor, and learner–content interactions. Dialogue was measured using the DELES. The DELES provides three separate numerical subscores for each type of dialogue, making this variable a scale variable. The dependent or outcome variable was student success, which was measured using the final course grade. Retention was a continuous variable.

This study was a nonexperimental quantitative research design. In place of random selection, convenience sampling was used. Participants were not assigned to either a traditional online course or a CBE online course. Instead, students who were already enrolled in one of these programs or who had completed a traditional online course or a CBE online course (successfully or unsuccessfully) within the last 6 months were asked to participate. There was no active manipulation in this study; instead, there was an analysis of preexisting conditions. Participants reported their last course that was completed within the last 6 months. This design allowed for data to be collected in a timely manner as opposed to waiting for students to complete a course in which they were currently enrolled.

The design for this study was based on current literature and the identification of gaps within the literature. A nonexperimental quantitative design was chosen because there was a need for quantitative studies to address CBE effectiveness because most studies had been qualitative (see Kelly & Columbus, 2016). I compared CBE students to traditional online students because there was a gap in the literature in terms of the utilization of valid comparison groups (see Kelly & Columbus, 2016; Parson et al., 2016). One goal of the study was to examine student success rates in CBE programs as compared to traditional online programs, which filled a gap within the literature (see Croxton, 2014; Gallagher, 2014; Kelly & Columbus, 2016; Lacey & Murray, 2015; Parson et al., 2016). Research had not been conducted to examine the difference in student success between traditional online courses and CBE courses. Kelly and Columbus (2016) argued that there is a need for further research to examine possible factors that would account for the variance.

Some research suggested that variance in student success between online courses and face-to-face courses can be explained by confounding variables such as student age, employment, being a caregiver (Wolff et al, 2016), using financial aid (Britt et al., 2017; Perkins et al., 2021), academic experience (James et al., 2016), gender, ethnicity, and income (Wladis et al., 2016). Another goal of the present study was to explore the relationship between student success and dialogue embedded into course design. Studies have found that embedding dialogue into course design is a critical component of student success and satisfaction (T. Anderson, 2003; O'Rielly & Newton, 2002; Sung & Mayer, 2012). According to Moore (1997), there are three critical forms of interactions that need to occur in online learning environments: learner-learner, learner-instructor, and learnercontent interactions. The literature supported the relationship between Moore's construct of dialogue and student success. Some studies indicated that learner-instructor interactions are the primary predictor of satisfaction and persistence in traditional online programs (Croxton, 2014; Sebastianelli et al., 2015; Wengrowicz et al., 2018). Kuo and Belland (2016) had similar findings and reported that both learner-instructor and learnercontent interactions had a significant impact on student satisfaction. These studies addressed traditional online courses; however, there was a gap in the literature regarding CBE online courses. Other researchers concluded that there are higher learner-learner interactions in advanced-level courses as compared to entry-level courses (Kuo & Belland, 2016). Similarly, Kurucay and Inan (2017) concluded that learner-learner interactions have a significant effect on online student success. It was unknown whether the same is true for online CBE students. Bickle and Rucker (2017) reported that learnerlearner interactions predicted students' perception of course quality but did not impact their overall course satisfaction.

There were some emerging trends in the literature regarding student demographics. There were also some inconsistencies and gaps in the literature (Kelly &

Columbus, 2016). Much of the research focused on the demographics of traditional online students. These studies indicated that traditional students are most often female (Parson et al., 2016; Wladis et al., 2016), are older (James et al., 2016; Parson et al., 2016), have more academic experience (Jaggars & Xu, 2010; James et al., 2016; Parson et al., 2016; Xu & Jaggars, 2011), have higher GPAs (Jaggars & Xu, 2010; Xu & Jaggars, 2011), use financial aid more than face-to-face students (Jaggars & Xu, 2010; Parson et al., 2016; Xu & Jaggars, 2011), are married, are active military, and are financially independent (Wladis et al., 2016). I included these demographics to compare the demographic profiles of traditional online students and CBE online students.

Methodology

Population

The accessible population for this study included individuals over the age of 18 who were currently enrolled in or who in the last 6 months had been enrolled in either a traditional online course or a CBE online course. I aimed to recruit a minimum of 100 participants.

Sampling and Sampling Procedures

The sampling strategy used for this study was purposeful and included a total population sampling approach. Participation in this study was not limited to any number of colleges or universities or geographical region. Any traditional online or CBE online student could participate. A G* power analysis based on a multiple linear regression statistical design indicated the sample size needed was 100 participants to reach a

statistical power of .80 with a small effect size (odds ratio < 1.5 or Cohen's d of < .2 equivalent) and a statistical significance probability of less than .05.

Procedures for Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection

Participants were recruited using the SurveyMonkey targeted response system. First, participants were required to read the consent form and choose an option of consent or not consenting to participate. The consent indicated that by proceeding to the survey the participant was consenting to participate in the study. No personal identifying information was collected from participants at any time. Completion of the two surveys was estimated to take no longer than 15 minutes. Upon completion of the demographic survey (see Appendix B) and DELES, a de-briefing message appeared (see Appendix A). The de-briefing message explained the purpose of the study and provided my and Walden University contact information.

Instrumentation and Operationalization of Constructs

The DELES developed by Walker (2003) was chosen for this study because of its alignment with Moore's (1997) theory of dialogue. The DELES is used to gather student perceptions of interactions within their current or identified course. There are 34 questions and six scales: instructor support (learner–instructor interaction), learner interaction and collaboration (learner–learner interaction), personal relevance (learner–content interaction), authentic learning (learner–content interaction), active learning (learner–content interaction). The following is an example of one of the questions: "In this class, I work with others." Respondents are asked to select one response: *never*, *seldom*, *sometimes*, *often*, or *always*.

All of the questions on this assessment follow the same format. Walker provided written permission to use the DELES for purposes of the current study. Reliability and validity were established for the DELES (Walker, 2003; Walker & Fraser, 2005). Walker and Fraser (2005) tested the DELES on 680 online students and reported alpha reliability coefficients that ranged from 0.75 to 0.94. The DELES is currently available in eight different languages. From its inception until 2018, it has been used in 24 different studies. **Study Variables**

There were four predictor variables in this study: course modality (traditional online, CBE online), and various types of dialogue (learner–learner, learner–instructor, and learner–content interactions). The outcome variable was student success (final course grade). Two course modalities were examined for purposes of this study: traditional online format and CBE online format. Participants reported in the demographic survey as being a traditional online student or a CBE online student. Type of dialogue (learner–learner, learner–instructor, and learner–content interactions) was another set of independent or predictor variables. Dialogue was assessed using the DELES, which yielded separate numerical scores for each type of dialogue. Student success was the dependent or outcome variable. Student success was defined using the student's final course grade on a 4-point grading scale. Data about course completion were collected using the demographic survey.

Data Analysis Plan

Data from the DELES and the demographic survey were entered into the Statistical Software for the Social Sciences (IBM[®] SPSS[®], v28) for statistical analysis. Data were cleaned and screened using SPSS before statistical analyses. Additionally, data were examined to determine if the assumptions for the proposed statistical analyses were met. A multiple linear regression model, specifically hierarchical multiple linear regression to control for confounding variables was scheduled to be used to analyze the data. However, the outcome variable of a participant typing into the survey their actual grade for the course they took was switched instead to grade point average categories to further remove any specific personal identifying information, and to avoid having them fill in a response when the remainder of the survey were multiple choice responses. Because of this change, the outcome variable was no longer a continuous variable and now was a categorical one with five categories: (a) GPA 4.0+; (b) GPA 3.0-3.99; (c) GPA 2.0-2.99; (d) GPA 1.0-1.99; and (e) GPA 1.0 <). These categories required the use of ordinal logistic regression. Descriptive statistics were collected, and simple descriptive analysis was identified for the data collected in the demographic survey. Demographic data collected included the following: information about the current/most recent course, current academic performance, gender, race, ethnicity, age, military experience, financial aid, previous college experience/ performance, relationships, employment/ professional experience, and basis for choosing program (CBE versus traditional).

Research Questions and Hypotheses

The key research question in this study concerned whether online course modality type (traditional online versus CBE online) and dialogue (learner-learner, learner-instructor, and learner-content interaction) would predict student success.

*H*₀: Online course modality and dialogue do not predict student success.

 H_1 : Online course modality and dialogue do predict student success.

More specifically, the RQs were the following:

RQ1: Is online course modality (traditional online or CBE online) a significant predictor of student success?

 H_{01} : Course modality (traditional online or CBE online) is not a significant predictor of student success.

H_{a1}: Course modality (traditional online or CBE online) is a significant predictor of student success.

RQ2: Is dialogue (learner-learner interaction) a significant predictor of student success?

 H_{02} : Dialogue (learner-learner interaction) is not a significant predictor of student success.

 H_{a2} : Dialogue (learner-learner interaction) is a significant predictor of student success.

RQ3: Is dialogue (learner-instructor interaction) a significant predictor of student success?

 H_{03} : Dialogue (learner-instructor interaction) is not a significant predictor of student success.

 H_{a3} : Dialogue (learner-instructor interaction) is a significant predictor of student success.

RQ4: Is dialogue (learner-content interaction) a significant predictor of student success?

 H_{04} : Dialogue (learner-content interaction) is not a significant predictor of student success.

 H_4 : Dialogue (learner-content interaction) is a significant predictor of student success.

Threats of Validity

There are some potential threats to internal validity with the proposed study design. One possible confounding variable is the inherent difference in course content and instructional strategies employed. It was, however, expected that online courses and instructors would vary. The study aimed to determine if online course modality and dialogue were predictors of student success. Threats to construct validity were minimized due to the reliability and validity testing that was conducted on the DELES. Lastly, based on the number of participants who volunteered to participate in the study, there was a potential for low statistical power, and therefore threats to statistical conclusion validity.

Ethical Procedures

This study collected information about student perceptions. No actual interventions occurred. One potential ethical concern was how to handle data from student participants who did not fully complete the DELES and demographic survey. Data were obtained from participants after completion of an online course. Participants were asked to complete the DELES and the demographic survey either after their course, or when they dropped the course. It was anticipated that there might be a higher response rate from those who successfully completed the course they evaluated. Data were stored on a password-protected computer. The researcher of the study, chair, and committee members were the only persons who had access to the data. After the study, data will be stored on a password-protected external drive and destroyed after 7 years.

Summary

This study aimed to examine the relationship between course modality, dialogue, student demographics, and student success. The study included participants from various colleges and universities. Participants were recruited using SurveyMonkey[®]. There were two inclusionary criteria for participation in the study. Participants had to be 18 years of age or older and they must have taken a traditional online course or a CBE online course within the last 6 months. Participants were asked to complete a demographic survey and the DELES (Walker, 2003). Data are analyzed and discussed in Chapter 4.
Chapter 4: Results

The purpose of this nonexperimental quantitative study was to determine whether course modality (traditional online and CBE online) and dialogue (learner–learner, learner–instructor, and learner–content) predict student success (final course grade). Data were collected using a demographic survey and the DELES (Walker, 2003). Chapter 4 includes information about the data collection, changes to the initial plan for statistical analysis, research questions and hypotheses, study results, statistical assumptions, and a summary of the findings.

Data Collection

Data were collected using SurveyMonkey and the targeted response system. The age range was set at 18 to 99 years old, all genders, all regions of the United States, and those with some postsecondary education experience. The target number of responses was 100. The survey was prematurely closed on June 14, 2022, after 77 responses had been obtained. In the first launch, the abandon rate was 48%, and the disqualified rate was 0%. The survey was relaunched on June 14, 2022. After a total of 127 responses had been obtained (collectively), the survey was closed. In the second launch, there was a 51% abandon rate and a 0% disqualified rate.

The survey began with the participant's consent form. Next was the demographic survey and then the DELES. Lastly, there was a debriefing form. Data were exported from Survey Monkey into an SPSS file. The files were password protected and stored on a password-protected personal computer. A G* power analysis indicated 100 participants were needed to reach a statistical power of .80 with a small effect size (odds ratio < 1.5 or

Cohen's d of < .2 equivalent) and a statistical significance probability of less than .05. A total of 127 responses were collected and analyzed.

The original plan for statistical analysis, hierarchical multiple linear regression, was changed to ordinal logistic regression. The original plan for data collection was to collect numerical values for the dependent/outcome variable, thereby making the variable a continuous variable. When the survey was constructed, the decision was made to collect ordinal categorial data. Participants were asked about the final course grade for the course they were reporting on. The outcome options were as follows: (a) 4.0 or better (A), (b) 3.0 to 3.99 (B), (c) 2.0 to 2.99 (C), (d) 1.0 to 1.99 (D), and (f) less than 1.0 (F). This change required a change in the type of regression statistical analysis.

The baseline descriptive data are found in Tables 1 through 3. Table 1 provides academic performance and other academic information. Of the total population (N = 127), 65.4% were traditional participants (n = 83), and 34.6% were CBE participants (n = 44).

Table 1

Pagalina abarrataristia	Total	population	Tra	ditional	CBE		
Baseline characteristic	N/n	%	п	%	n	%	
Course modality	127		83	65.4%	44	34.6%	
Requirement							
Required	72	56.7%	52	62.7%	20	45.5%	
Elective	55	43.3%	31	37.3%	24	54.5%	
Course outcome							
Dropped	4	3.1%	4	4.8%	0	0%	
Withdrew	17	13.4%	11	13.3%	6	13.6%	
Completed/not passed	13	10.2%	11	13.3%	2	4.5%	
Completed/passed	93	73.2%	57	68.7%	36	81.8%	

Academic Performance and Information

Deceline Chameteristics	Total F	Population	,	Traditional		CBE
Baseline Characteristics	N/n	%	п	%	п	%
Final grade	47	37%	28	33.7%	19	43.2%
4.0 or better (A)	60	47.2%	42	50.6%	18	40.9%
3.0-3.99 (B)	15	11.8%	9	10.8%	6	13.6%
2.0-2.99 (C)	2	1.6%	1	1.2%	1	2.3%
1.0-1.99 (D)	3	2.4%	3	3.6%	0	0%
Less than 1.0 (F)						
If not passed						
Try course again	22	17.3%	14	16.9%	8	18.2%
Change program	13	10.2%	10	12%	3	6.8%
Dropped program	4	3.1%	3	3.6%	1	2.3%
No longer in school	10	7.9%	9	10.8%	1	2.3%
N/A completed class	68	61.4%	47	56.6%	31	70.5%
Financial aid						
Yes	35	27.6%	27	32.5%	8	18.2%
No	92	72.4%	56	67.5%	36	81.8%
Enrollment						
Full-time	41	32.3%	33	39.8%	8	18.2%
Part-time	48	37.8%	30	36.1%	18	40.9%
Not enrolled	38	38%	20	24.1%	18	10.9%
Degree pursuing						
Associate's	12	9.4%	9	10.8%	3	6.8%
Bachelor's	5	39.4%	40	48.2%	10	22.7%
Master's	15	11.8%	11	13.3%	4	9.1%
Doctorate	7	5.5%	3	3.6%	4	9.1%
Certification	22	17.3%	6	7.2%	16	36.4%
None	19	15.0%	13	15.7%	3	6.8%
Other	2	1.6%	1	1.2%	2	4.5%
Online experience						
Some online courses	57	44.9%	38	45.8%	19	43.2%
Many online courses	50	39.4%	33	39.8%	17	38.6%
Most education online	7	5.5%	6	7.2%	1	2.3%
Never taken online	13	10.2%	6	7.2%	7	15.9%

In the academic performance and information table (see Table 1), the data showed a disproportionate percentage of traditional online student respondents (64.5%) as compared to CBE online student respondents (34.6%). Also, there were differences in what these two online groups chose to evaluate for this study regarding their course requirements. The traditional online students evaluated primarily a required online course

type (68.7%) while CBE online students evaluated primarily an elective online course type (54.5%). For both the traditional (68.7%) and CBE respondents (81.8%), most had passed the class they evaluated for this study. Moreover, there were differences between these two online groups in their final course grade. Of the traditional students, 50.6% received a final grade of 3.0 to 3.99 (i.e., the group that evaluated required courses) while 43.2% of CBE students received a final grade of a 4.0 or better (i.e., the group that evaluated mostly elective courses). A few students had not passed the course they used in their evaluation for this study, and of those individuals, less than 20% (traditional, 16.9%; CBE, 18.2%) planned to take the course again. Most students (traditional, 67.5%; CBE, 81.8%) were not receiving financial aid as was initially anticipated. Roughly 40% of the traditional students (39.8%) were enrolled full-time, and about 20% of the CBE students (18.2%) were enrolled part-time. Roughly 25% of the traditional (24.1%) and 41% of the CBE (40.9%) students were not currently enrolled at the time of this study. Most of the traditional respondents were seeking a bachelor's degree (48.2%), while most CBE respondents were seeking a certificate (36.4%). Finally, both traditional and CBE respondents had previously taken some online courses (45.8% and 43.2%, respectively) prior to participating in this study. In summary, there were notable differences between the groups. Traditional online students accounted for a larger proportion of the total population; most were enrolled in required courses and were predominantly seeking bachelor's degrees. CBE online students accounted for a small proportion of the total population, and most were enrolled in elective classes and were predominantly seeking

certificates. Another finding was that a small proportion (27.6%) of the total population used federal financial aid. Table 2 provides demographic information.

Table 2

Baseline Characteristics	Population		Т	raditional	CBE		
Baseline Characteristics	N/n	%	n	%	n	%	
Sex	127		83	65.4%	44	34.6%	
Female	67	45.7%	46	55.4%	21	47.7%	
Male	58	52.8%	35	42.2%	23	52.3%	
Nonbinary	1	0.8%	1	1.2%	0	0%	
Chose not to respond	1	0.8%	1	1.2%	0	0%	
Race	127		83	65.4	44	34.6%	
American Indian or Alaskan Native	1	0.8%	1	1.2%	0	0%	
Asian or Asian American	1	0.8%	13	15.7%	6	13.6%	
White	81	63.8%	51	61.4%	30	68.2%	
Black or African American	12	9.4%	9	10.8%	3	6.8%	
Hispanic or Latino	9	7.1%	6	7.2%	3	6.8%	
Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander	1	0.8%	0	0%	1	2.3%	
Another race	4	3.1%	3	3.6%	1	2.3%	
Age	127		83	65.4%	44	34.6%	
18–22	16	12.6%	13	15.7%	3	6.8%	
23–30	36	28.3%	27	32.5%	9	20.5%	
31–40	24	18.9%	18	21.7%	6	13.6%	
41–50	23	18.1%	10	12%	13	29.5%	
50+	28	22%	15	18.1%	13	29.5%	
Military experience	127		83	65.4%	44	34.6%	
None	111	87.4%	73	88%	38	86.4%	
Previous	11	8.7%	4	4.8%	1	2.3%	
Current	5	3.9%	6	7.2%	5	11.4%	
Relationship Status	127		83	65.4%	44	34.6%	
Single	48	37.8%	35	42.2%	13	29.5%	
Married	63	49.6%	39	47%	24	54.5%	
Living with partner	9	7.1%	6	7.2%	3	6.8%	
Separated	1	0.8%	0	0%	1	2.3%	
Divorced	3	2.4%	1	1.2%	2	4.5%	
Widowed	3	2.4%	2	2.4%	1	2.3%	
Baseline Characteristics	P	opulation		Traditional		CBE	
	N/n	%	n		N/n	%	
Employment	127		83	65.4%	44	34.6%	
Full-Time	67	52.8%	37	44.6%	30	68.2%	
Part-Time	40	31.5%	33	39.8%	7	15.9%	
Unemployed	20	15.%	13	15.7%	7	15.9%	

Sociodemographic Characteristics of Participants

There were more traditional female respondents (55.4%), but there were more male CBE respondents (52.3%). Participants in both online modalities were predominantly White in ethnicity (traditional 61.4% and CBE 68.2%). There were some differences in age between the two groups. Traditional respondents were predominantly 23 to 30 years of age (32.5%) while CBE respondents were 41 to 50 years of age (29.5%) or over 50 years of age (29.5%). Most respondents had no military experience (traditional 88% and CBE 86.4%). There was a difference in relationship status between both modalities. Traditional respondents were predominantly single (42.2%) while CBE respondents were predominantly married (54.5%). Both modalities were predominantly employed full-time (traditional 44.6% and CBE 68.2%). In summary, there were some demographic similarities between modalities, but also some noteworthy differences. Both groups were predominantly White, had no military experience, and were employed fulltime. However, the traditional online respondents were mostly women, 23 to 30 years of age, and single. The CBE online respondents were mostly male, over the age of 41, and married. Table 3 provides information about course satisfaction and quality assessment.

Table 3

	Total Population		Tra	ditional	CBE		
Baseline Characteristics	N/n	%	п	%	п	%	
Student Satisfaction	127		83		44		
Course Satisfaction							
Highly dissatisfied	1	0.8%	1	1.2%	0	0%	
Dissatisfied	8	6.3%	6	7.2%	2	4.5%	
Neutral	39	30.7%	26	31.3%	13	29.5%	
Satisfied	50	39.4%	31	37.3%	19	43.2%	
Highly Dissatisfied	29	22.8%	19	22.9%	10	22.7%	
Course Quality							
Highly dissatisfied	1	0.8%	0	0%	1	2.3%	
Dissatisfied	11	8.7%	10	12%	1	2.3%	
Neutral	31	24.4%	19	22.9%	12	27.3%	
Satisfied	53	41.7%	34	41%	19	43.2%	
Highly Dissatisfied	31	24.4%	20	24.1%	11	25%	

Course Satisfaction and Quality Assessment

Table 3 provides responses to two of the questions on the survey, which inquired about student satisfaction with the course and student perception of the quality of the course. In both course type modalities, most respondents (nearly 70%) were satisfied or highly satisfied with the course they were evaluating for course quality.

Study Results

This study was designed to determine whether course modality (traditional online and CBE online) and dialogue (learner–learner, learner–instructor, and learner–content) predicted student success (final course grade). The independent predictor variables were the course modalities and the different forms of dialogue. The dependent or outcome variable (categories of final course grade) was an ordinal variable; therefore, ordinal logistic regression was used to analyze the data.

Research Questions

The purpose of this nonexperimental quantitative study was to determine whether course modality (traditional online and CBE online) and dialogue (learner–learner, learner–instructor, and learner–content) predict student success (final course grade). The primary research question in this study addressed whether online course modality type (traditional online versus CBE online) and dialogue (learner–learner, learner–instructor, and learner–content interaction) predict student success.

 H_0 : Online course modality and dialogue do not predict student success.

 H_1 : Online course modality and dialogue predict student success.

There were four research subquestions in the study. The results of each research question are provided in the following sections.

Hypothesis 1

The purpose of the first research question was to determine whether online course modality (traditional online or CBE online) was a significant predictor of student success?

 H_{01} : Course modality (traditional online or CBE online) is not a significant predictor of student success.

 H_{a1} : Course modality (traditional online or CBE online) is a significant predictor of student success.

Parameter estimates indicated that online course modality was not a significant predictor of student success (Wald $x^2(1) = 5.15$, p = .473, 95% CI [-.985, .457]).

Hypothesis 2

The purpose of the second research question was to determine whether dialogue, specifically learner–learner interaction, was a significant predictor of student success.

 H_{02} : Dialogue (learner–learner interaction) is not a significant predictor of student success.

 H_{a2} : Dialogue (learner–learner interaction) is a significant predictor of student success.

Parameter estimates indicated that online course modality was marginal in not being a significant predictor of student success (Wald $x^2(1) = 3.747$, p = .053, 95% CI [-.005, .810]). Had the predictor been significant for every one unit of increase in the learner–learner subscore, there was a predicted increase of .402 in the log odds of being in a lower grade category.

Hypothesis 3

The third research question addressed whether dialogue, specifically learner– instructor interaction, was a significant predictor of student success.

 H_{03} : Dialogue (learner–instructor interaction) is not a significant predictor of student success.

 H_{a3} : Dialogue (learner–instructor interaction) is a significant predictor of student success.

Parameter estimates indicated that learner–instructor dialogue was a significant predictor of student success (Wald x2(1) = 5.816, p = .017, 95% CI [-1.477, -.153]). For every one

unit of increase in the learner–instructor subscore, there was a predicted decrease of .815 in the log odds of being in a higher grade category.

Hypothesis 4

The fourth research question aimed to determine if dialogue, specifically learnercontent interaction, was a significant predictor of student success. Is dialogue (learnercontent interaction) a significant predictor of student success?

 H_{04} : Dialogue (learner-content interaction) is not a significant predictor of student success.

*H*₄: Dialogue (learner-content interaction) is a significant predictor of student success.

Parameter estimates indicated that online course modality was not a significant predictor of student success (p = .678). Had the predictor been significant, for every one unit of increase in the learner-content sub-score, there was a predicted increase of .167 in the log odds of being in a lower-grade category.

Table 4 represents the parameter estimates as in hypotheses 1-4. The threshold is broken down into four categories of final grades: (1) 4.0 or better, (2) 3.0-3.99, (3) 2.0-2.99 and (4) 1.0-1.99. The fifth category (F, 1.0 or less) was automatically dropped in SPSS because there were only three participants that reported in this category. Next there was course type (traditional online, CBE online) and the three types of dialogue: learnerinstructor, learner-learner, and learner-content DELES sub-scores.

Table 4

Parameter Estimates

Parameter	ß	95% Wald Confidence β Interval			Hypothesis Test		95% Wald Confidence Interval for Exp(β)			
		Error	Upper	Lower	Wald Chi- Square	df	Sig.	Exp(ß)	Lower	Upper
Threshold										
4.+	-2.209	1.5361	-5.129	.802	2.067	1	.151	.110	.005	2.231
3.0-3.99	.309	1.5307	-2.691	3.310	.041	1	.840	1.363	.068	27.373
2.0-2.99	1.957	1.5795	-1.139	5.052	1.535	1	.215	7.076	.320	156.500
1.0-1.99	2.511	1.6152	654	5.677	2.417	1	.120	12.321	.520	292.090
Course Type	264	.3678	985	.457	.515	1	.473	.768	.373	1.57
L-Instructor ^a	815	.3425	-1.486	144	5.662	1	.017	.443	.226	.866
L-Learner ^a	.402	.2081	006	.810	3.736	1	.053	1.495	.994	2.248
L-Content	.167	.4013	620	.953	.173	1	.678	1.181	.538	2.594

Note: Dependent Variable: If you completed the course, what was your final grade in this course?
 Model (Threshold): In which program are you currently enrolled or have been enrolled in the last 6 months?
 Learner Instructor DELES subscore, Learner-Leaner DELES subscore, Learner-Content DELES

subscore

a. Fixed at the displayed value

Assumptions Testing

Assumption 1: One Ordinal Outcome Variable

The dependent/ outcome variable was ordinal. The final grade was categorized into five ordered categories: 4.0 or better (A), 3.0 to 3.99 B), 2.0 to 2.99 (C), 1.0 to 1.99 (D), and less than a 1.0 (F). The original intent with the outcome variable was initially to collect each participant's specific GPA. The decision, however was made to instead categorize the final grade, which necessitated a change in statistical analysis from hierarchical multiple regression to ordinal logistic regression.

Assumption 2: One or More Predictor Variables That Are Continuous, Ordinal, or Categorical

The study included four predictor variables: course modality and three forms of dialogue (learner-learner, learner-instructor, and learner-content). Course modality was a binary categorical variable. Respondents identified as either traditional online (1) students or CBE online (2) students. There were three parts to dialogue: learner-instructor, learner-learner, and learner-content. These were measured using the DELES, which provided a sub-score for each; therefore, they were continuous variables.

Assumption 3: Proportional Odds

The assumption of proportional odds is paramount to ordinal logistic regression (Laerd Statistics, 2018). For each variable in the model, the slope estimate between two responses are assumed to be the same. This assumption was measured using a test of parallel lines. Ordinal logistic regression assumes that the relationship between the independent variables is the same across all combinations involving the dependent variable. The outcome was non-significant, therefore the assumption of proportional odds was met, $x^2(2) = 2.570$, p = .998.

Assumption 4: No Multicollinearity

The last assumption for ordinal logistic regression is having no multicollinearity, or significant correlation between two or more of the independent variables. Four statistical determinants of multicollinearity were analyzed. The tolerance threshold is 0.10. None of the predictor variables had a tolerance score at or below 0.10. The variance inflation factor (VIF) threshold for multicollinearity is 10 or higher. None of the predictor variables had a VIF score of 10 or higher. The threshold for the condition index is 30 or higher. None of the predictor variables had a score of 30 or above. Lastly, the variance proportion scores were analyzed. The threshold is having two or more scores in one row that are above 0.50. None of the predictor variables had two or more scores in one row that were at or above 0.50. All four statistical outcomes provided evidence that there was no multicollinearity between predictor variables, therefore this assumption was met.

Goodness of Fit

Various tests were conducted to determine goodness of fit. Results of the Pearson Chi-Square test (p = .725) and the test of deviance (p = 1.000) both concluded that the model was a good fit to the data. The omnibus test also provided evidence of the model being a significant improvement in fit over the null (p < .001). Both results were good outcomes as it determined normal distribution in the data.

Summary of Assumptions

Despite the change from hierarchical multiple regression to ordinal logistic regression, all four assumptions were met. The goodness of fit tests were also met. The results reported in this section reflected the impact of the predictors to the outcome variable.

Summary

The study data yielded useful demographic data about the similarities and differences between traditional online students and CBE online students. The total population of study participants was predominantly traditional online students. The majority of traditional respondents who were taking a required course were women between the ages of 23 and 30 and were single. Most CBE online student respondents who were taking an elective course were mostly men over the age of 41 and were married. Both groups were predominantly White, not using federal financial aid, had no military experience, and were employed full-time. Both modalities had the most responses that respondents were satisfied with their course and were satisfied with the overall quality of the course.

There were four research questions, and an ordinal logistic regression was used to analyze the data. All assumptions were met for this type of statistical analysis. The purpose of Research Question 1 was to determine if course modality (traditional or CBE) predicts student success (final course grade). The data indicated that modality was not a significant predictor of student success. The purpose of Research Questions 2 through 4 was to determine if dialogue (learner-learner, learner-instructor, and learner-content) predicts student success. Learner-learner and learner-content interactions were not significant predictors of student success. Learner-instructor interactions were determined to be a significant predictor of student success. For every one unit of increase on the learner-instructor interaction sub-score, there is a predicted increase of .815 in the log odds of being in a higher-grade category. In Chapter 5, there is further exploration of results, including interpretations, implications for positive social change, limitations of the study, recommendations, and implications. Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations

The purpose of this study was to determine whether course modality (traditional online, CBE online) and dialogue (learner–instructor, learner–learner, learner–content interactions) predict student success (final course grade). The DELES was used to measure dialogue. Participants self-reported course modality and final course grade in a survey on SurveyMonkey (see Appendix B). Participant recruitment through SurveyMonkey required individuals to be over the age of 18 and having completed or attempted an online course (traditional or CBE) within the last 6 months. Data were analyzed using ordinal logistic regression. Findings are discussed in this chapter.

Interpretation of the Findings

An ordinal logistic regression analysis was used to answer the four research questions. The first research question addressed whether course modality was a significant predictor of student success. Statistical analysis indicated that course modality was not a significant predictor of student success; therefore, traditional online students and CBE online students had equal likelihood for success. The second research question addressed whether learner–learner interactions were a significant predictor of student success. Although results were marginal, results indicated that learner–learner interactions were not a significant predictor of student success. The third research question addressed whether learner–instructor interactions were a significant predictor of student success. Results indicated that learner–instructor interactions were a significant predictor of student success. When there was an increase in learner–instructor interactions, there was a higher likelihood of a higher final course grade. The fourth

77

research question addressed whether learner–content interactions were a significant predictor of student success. Results indicated that learner–content interactions were not a significant predictor of student success. Results indicated that not all forms of dialogue in Moore's (1997) theory of transactional distance have equal influence on the likelihood of student success for online students.

Findings in Relationship to the Theoretical Framework

Moore's (1997) theory of transactional distance served as the theoretical framework for this study. Transactional distance can be described as the geographical gap between learners and instructors and the interpersonal implications for student success. One component of transactional distance is dialogue, which comprises three parts: (a) learner-learner interactions, (b) learner-instructor interactions, and (c) learner-content interactions. Various studies had been conducted to examine these three forms of dialogue. Some researchers observed positive outcomes associated with learner-learner interactions (Bettinger et al., 2016; Gering et al., 2018; Lowenthal, 2016) while others had prioritized learner-instructor interactions (Collins et al., 2019; Gering et al., 2018; Lockman & Shirmer, 2020; Phirangee et al., 2016). Results of the current study complemented the literature; that is, higher student perceptions of learner-instructor positive interactions predicted an increased likelihood of a higher course grade. The instructor's meaningful feedback, availability, and engagement were strong predictors of student success because course modality (traditional or CBE) was not a significant predictor. Learner-learner social interactions, although not statistically significant, showed a marginal degree of importance in predicting student success. Student

collaboration, interaction, and engagement had a marginal impact on student success. Learner–content interactions were not found to be a significant predictor of student success. Instructional presence and positive and supportive learner–instructor interactions were the most important predictors of student success. The format of the online course and the content being covered were far less important in terms of course grade as compared to the quality of the interactions between learners and their instructors and other learners. These findings provide an important contribution to higher education and course development.

Findings in Relationship to the Literature

Findings from this study may help fill a gap in the literature by providing quantitative and comparative outcomes for online students (see Croxton, 2014; Gallagher, 2014; Kelly & Columbus, 2016; Lacey & Murray, 2015; Parson et al., 2016). The literature indicated vast variation in CBE outcomes (Association of American Colleges and Universities, 2016; Integrated Postsecondary Educational Data System, 2012; Kelly & Columbus, 2016; Parson et al., 2016). Parson et al. (2016) argued the need for research to understand how different components may affect CBE outcomes. I examined the role of dialogue (learner–leaner, learner–instructor, and learner–content interactions). Parson et al. also argued the need for a valid comparison group. I compared traditional online students to CBE online students. Results from the present study indicated that 69% of traditional online students passed their course compared to 82% of CBE online students. Additionally, 31% of traditional online students had dropped, withdrew, or completed the course but did not receive a passing grade, compared to 18% of CBE students. These results demonstrate a higher percentage of student success in CBE participants; however, despite the percentage differences in success between the two course types, statistical analysis of the predictors indicated that course modality was not a statistically significant predictor of student success (final course grade). Perhaps a deeper examination of each course modality in a future study would provide an explanation of the success differences within each.

Limitations of the Study

This study included participants from two online course modalities: traditional and CBE. This did not allow for student performance comparison to in-person students. Data from the in-person group may have yielded meaningful information. Also, I did not collect information about whether the course was synchronous or asynchronous. Various studies indicated that this course design component can have a significant impact on student outcomes (Bostock, 2018; Byrd, 2016; Estes, 2016). Bostock (2018) argued that when there is more structure and rigidity in course design, there tends to be less dialogue. Another limitation of the current study was the disproportionate number of participants who successfully passed the course (73%). It is conceivable that a more equal distribution of participants who had successfully completed the course and those who were not successful could have yielded different results. One final possible limitation was allowing for students who were taking a required course, as well as those taking an elective course. This could have impacted the predictors that were significant to the outcome in the results. In a repeated study, researchers could restrict participation to one or the other to create a more homogenous group.

Recommendations

In future research, it may be beneficial to make changes to the parameters for data collection. It may be useful to compare traditional online and CBE online to in-person outcomes. This comparison may provide a more comprehensive comparison and analysis of student outcomes. There were some academic and demographic variables that were supported in the literature that may be beneficial to add. One variable is whether the course being reported is synchronous or asynchronous (Bostock, 2018; Byrd, 2016; Estes, 2016). Other relevant variables supported in the literature included children/dependents. Wladis et al. (2016) found that online students with children under the age of 6 were more likely to drop out of their program. This finding, combined with other studies that have found that the average fully online student has children (NCES, 2018), would make the inclusion of having children a relevant addition to demographic data collected.

In efforts of obtaining a more balanced sample, it may also be beneficial to identify a recruitment method that is equally as likely to secure participants who had failed as compared to those who had been successful. In the current study, 73% of the participants had completed and passed the course that they were evaluating for purposes of this study. The results indicated that among the students who had passed the course they were reporting on, learner–instructor dialogue was the strongest predictor of success. In a more homogenous population with a more equal number of successful (passing) and unsuccessful (failing) students, it is possible that data analysis may yield different results.

Implications

In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, higher education was abruptly altered. Although some of the alterations were temporary, others had lasting implications. At the start of the pandemic, all in-person teaching was abruptly halted. Instructors who had never taught online were forced into online education. Learners who had never taken an online course were forced to become online students. Arguably, there was a gross lack of training and preparation. I collected data in 2022, 2 years after the start of the pandemic. Respondents were asked about their previous online experience. In the total sample, nearly half (45%) had taken some online courses (other response options were many, most, and none). Whether prompted by the COVID-19 pandemic or personal choice, online enrollment continues to increase at a steady rate (NCES, 2018). Despite enrollment increases in online education, there continues to be a disproportionately lower success rate in online education as compared to in-person courses (Peck et al., 2018; Radovan, 2019). Higher education institutions and educators have a responsibility to identify reasons for the disparity and to make necessary adjustments. The current study contributed to the literature by identifying success variables (learner-instructor dialogue) which may influence positive social change.

Conclusion

The purpose of this study was to determine whether course type (traditional online and CBE online) and dialogue (learner–instructor, learner–learner, and learner–content) predict student success. Success was measured by receiving a passing course grade. I also sought to fill a gap in the literature by comparing demographics between traditional online students and CBE online students. Results of this study indicated that course modality was not a significant predictor of student success. However, the results indicated that learner-instructor dialogue was a significant predictor of student success and potentially is the most important factor in any course type whether online or in person, which should be further explored. Although not significant, learner-learner interactions were found to have a marginal impact on student success. Course design and course content were not predictive of student success. The quality of interactions between learners and instructors was a significant predictor of a student receiving a passing grade and successfully completing a course. The quality of interactions between learners and other learners had a marginal (near significance) impact on the likelihood of student success. The results also showed some demographic differences between traditional online students and CBE online students. Most traditional online respondents were women between the ages of 23 and 30 who were single. Most CBE respondents were men over the age of 41 who were married. Such differences may need further exploration in future studies. There were also some similarities between the groups. In both online groups, most students were White, were employed full-time, did not have any military experience, and were not using federal financial aid. The results of this study may be used to inform program and course development to increase the likelihood of student success for online students.

References

- Ali, A., & Smith, D. (2015). Issues in informing science and information technology comparing social isolation effects on student attrition in online versus face-to-face courses in computer literacy. *Issues in Informing Science and Informational Technology*, 12, 11–20. <u>https://doi.org/10.28945/2258</u>
- Allen, I. E., & Seaman, J. (2016). *Online report card tracking online education in the United States*. <u>http://onlinelearningsurvey.com/reports/onlinereportcard.pdf</u>
- Allen, I. E., & Seaman, J. (2017). *Distance education enrollment report*. Digital Learning Compass.
- Allen, I. E., Seaman, J., Poulin, R., & Straut, T. T. (2016). Online report card: Tracking online education in the United States.

http://www.utc.edu/learn/pdfs/online/sloanc-report-2014.pdf

- Altinay, F. (2017). Examining the role of social interaction in online learning Process. *Ensayos: Revista de La Facultad de Educacion de Albacete*, *32*(2), 97–106.
- Anderson, L. (2018). Competency-based education: Recent policy trends. *The Journal of Competency-Based Education*, 3(1), 1–5. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/cbe2.1057</u>
- Anderson, T. (2003). Getting the mix right again: An updated and theoretical rationale for interaction. *International Review of Research in Open and Distance Learning*,

4(2). https://doi.org/10.19173/irrodl.v4i2.149

Arenson, K. W. (1998). More colleges plunging into uncharted waters of on-line courses. *The New York Times*.

- Association of American Colleges and Universities. (2016). *Facts and figures: CBE* programs offer alternative path for students. <u>https://www.aacu.org/aacu-</u> news/newsletter/cbe-programs-offer-alternative-path-students
- Baker, J. M. (2016). Adult learners' and millennials' preferred Mmethods of instruction in the college classroom. ScholarWorks.
- Bawa, P. (2016). Retention in Online Courses: Exploring Issues and Solutions—A Literature Review. SAGE Open, 6(1). https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244015621777
- Bettinger, E., Liu, J., & Loeb, S. (2016). Connections matter! How interactive peers affect students in online college courses. Center for Education Policy Analysis (CEPA) at Stanford University. Working Paper No. 16-11. In *Stanford Center for Education Policy Analysis*.
- Bickle, M. C., & Rucker, R. D. (2017). Examination of course attributes that contribute to student satisfaction with online learning. *Journal of Consumer Satisfaction*, *Dissatisfaction & Complaining Behavior*, 30, 26–27.
- Bloemer, W., Swan, K., Day, S., & Bogle, L. (2018). Digging deeper into the data: The role of gateway courses in online student retention. *Online Learning*, 22(4), 109–127. <u>https://doi.org/10.24059/olj.v22i4.1515</u>

Boccia, M., Vecchione, F., Di Vita, A., D'Amico, S., Guariglia, C., & Piccardi, L.
(2019). Effect of cognitive style on topographical learning across life span: Insights from normal development. *Child Development*, 90(2), 462–470.

Bostock, J. R. (2018). A model of flexible learning: Exploring interdependent relationships between students, lecturers, resources, and contexts in virtual spaces.

Journal of Perspectives in Applied Academic Practice, 6(1), 12–18. https://doi.org/10.14297/jpaap.v6i1.298

Boton, E.C., & Gregory, S. (1015). Minimizing Attrition in Online Degree Courses. Journal of Educators Online, 12(1), 62-90.

Bowers, J., & Kumar, P. (2015). Students' perceptions of teaching and social presence: A comparative analysis of face-to-face and online learning environments.
 International Journal of Web-Based Learning and Teaching Technologies, 10(1) 27–44. <u>https://doi.org/10.4018/ijwltt.2015010103</u>

- Boyd, V. A., Whitehead, C. R., Thille, P., Ginsburg, S., Brydges, R., & Kuper, A. (2018).
 Competency-based medical education: The discourse of infallibility. *Medical Education*, 52, 45–57. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/medu.13467</u>
- Bradley, R. L., Browne, B. L., & Kelley, H. M. (2017). Examining the influence of selfefficacy and self-regulation in online learning. *College Student Journal*, *4*, 518.
- Britt, S. L., Ammerman, D. A., Barrett, S. F., & Jones, S. (2017). Student loans, financial stress, and college student retention. *Journal of Student Financial Aid*, 47(1), 24–37.
- Brooks, C. F., & Young, S. L. (2016). Exploring communication and course format:
 Conversation frequency and duration, student motives, and perceived teacher
 approachability for out-of-class contact. *International Review of Research in Open and Distributed Learning*, 17(5), 235–247.

Brubacher, M. R., & Silinda, F. T. (2019). Enjoyment and not competence predicts academic persistence for distance education students. *International Review of Research in Open & Distance Learning*, 20(3), 165–179. https://doi.org/10.19173/irrodl.v20i4.4325

Byrd, J. C., (2016). Understanding the online doctoral learning experience: A comparative analysis of face-to-face and online learning environments. *The Journal of Educators Online*, *13*(2), 1-34. <u>https://doi.org/10.9743/JEO.2016.2.3</u>

- Chang, Y., & Hannafin, M. J. (2015). The uses (and misuses) of collaborative distance education technologies implications for the debate on transience in technology: Implications for the debate on transience in technology. *Quarterly Review of Distance Education*, 16(2), 77-92.
- Chen, J., & Hossler, D. (2017). The effects of financial aid on college success of twoyear beginning nontraditional students. Research in Higher Education, 58(1), 40– 76.
- Cipher, D. J., Mancini, M. E., & Shrestha, S. (2017). Predictors of persistence and success in an accelerated online RN-to-BSN program. *Journal of Nursing Education*, 56(9), 522-526. <u>https://doi.org/10.3928/01484834-20170817-02</u>
- Clerkin, K., & Simon, Y. (2014). College for America: Student-centered, competencybased education. *Change: The Magazine of Learning*, *46*(6), 6-13.
- Cochran, J. D., Campbell, S. M., Baker, H. M., & Leeds, E. M. (2014). The role of student characteristics in predicting retention in online courses. *Research in Higher Education*, 55(1), 27-48. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11162-013-9305-8</u>

Collins, K., Groff, S., Mathena, C., & Kupczynski, L. (2019). Asynchronous video and the development of instructor social presence and student engagement. *Turkish Online Journal of Distance Education*, 20(1), 53-70. <u>https://doi.org/10.17718/</u> tojde.522378

Competency-Based Education Network (2017). *Quality framework for competency-based education programs*. <u>https://www.cbenetwork.org/wpcontent/uploads/2018/09/</u> <u>1st_button_CBE17016__Quality_Framework_Update.pdf</u>

- Croxton, R. A. (2014). The role of interactivity in student satisfaction and persistence in online learning. *Journal of Online Learning & Teaching*, *10*(2), 314-324.
- Elbow, P. (1979). Trying to teach while thinking about the end. In G. Grant et al. (Eds.), On competence: A critical analysis of competence-based reforms in higher education (pp. 95-137). Jossey-Bass
- Eom, S. B., & Ashill, N. (2016). The determinants of stiudents' perceived learning outcomes and satisfaction in university online education: An update. *Journal of Innovative Education*, 14(2), 185-215. https://doi.org/10.1111/dsji.12097
- Epp, C. D., Phirangee, K., & Hewitt, J. (2017). Student actions and community in online courses: The roles played by course length and facilitation method. *Online Learning*, 21(4), 53-77. <u>https://doi.org/10.24059/olj.v21i4.1269</u>
- Estes, J. S. (2016). The pivotal role of faculty in online student engagement and retention. Handbook of research on strategic management of interaction, presence, and participation in online courses, 66-88. IGI Global. <u>https://doi.org/10.4018/978-1-</u> 4666-9582-5.ch003

- Firat, M. & Bozkurt, A. (2020). Variables affecting online learning readiness in an open and distance learning university. *Educational Media International*, 57(2), 112-127. https://doi.org/10.1080/09523987.2020.1786772
- Gallagher, C. W. (2014). Disrupting the Game-Changer: Remembering the History of Competency-Based Education. *Change*, 46(6), 16-23.<u>https://doi.org/10.1080/</u> 00091383.2014.969177
- Gering, C. W., Sheppard, D. K., Adams, B. L., Renes, S. L., & Morotti, A. A. (2018).
 Strengths-based analysis of student success in online courses. *Online Learning*, 22(3), 55-85. https://doi:10.24059/olj.v22i3.1464
- Glazier, R. A. (2016). Building rapport to improve retention and success in online classes. *Journal of Political Science Education*, 12(4), 437–456. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1080/15512169.2016.1155994</u>
- Goldman, J., Kitto, S., & Reeves, S. (2018). Examining the implementation of collaborative competencies in a critical care setting: Key challenges for enacting competency-based education. *Journal of Interprofessional Care, 32*(4), 407-415.
 <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13561820.2017.1401987</u>
- Grann, J. (2017). Competency-Based education: Capella University's excellence in assessment profile. Assessment Update, 29(1), 8-13.<u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ au.30083</u>
- Gruppen, L. D., Burkhardt, J. C., Fitzgerald, J. T., Funnell, M., Haftel, H. M., Lypson, M.L., Mullan, P. B., Santen, S. A., Sheets, K. J., Stalburg, C. M., & Vasquez, J. A.(2016). Competency-based education: programme design and challenges to

implementation. *Medical Education*, 50(5), 532-539. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/</u> medu.12977

- Hanson, M. (2021). Education data initiative. *Financial Aid Statistics*. https://educationdata.org/financial-aid-statistics
- Hicks, N., Gray, D. M., & Bond, J. (2019). A blueprint for executing instructor-student interactions in the online classroom using marketing touchpoints. *Journal of Educators Online, 16*(1).
- Hilliard, T., Bushway, D., Krauss, S., & Anderson, N. (2018). Solving the four big problems facing CBE for underprepared college learners. Next-generation CBE.Jobs for the future.
- Hoogveld, A. W. M., Paas, F., & Jochems, W. M. G. (2005). Training higher education teachers for instructional design of competency-based education: Product-oriented versus process-oriented worked examples. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 21(3), 287-297. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2005.01.002</u>
- Huang, X., Chandra, A., Concetta, A., & Simmons, L. L. (2016). Understanding transactional distance in web-based learning environments: An empirical study. *British Journal of Educational Technology*, 47(4), 734-737. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/bjet.12263</u>
- Hurlbut, A. R. (2018). Online vs. traditional learning in teacher education: A comparison of student progress. *American Journal of Distance Education*, 32(4), 248-266. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/08923647.2018.1509265</u>

Integrated Postsecondary Education Data System (2012). https://nces.ed.gov/ipeds/

- Jaggars, S. S., & Xu, D. (2010). Online learning in the Virginia Community College system. Columbia University, Teachers College, Community College Research Center.
- James, S., Swan, K., & Daston, C. (2016). Retention, progression and the taking of online courses. Online Learning, 20(2), 189-210. <u>https://doi.org/10.24059/olj.v20i2.780</u>

Joksimović, S., Gašević, D., Loughin, T. M., Kovanović, V., & Hatala, M. (2015).
 Learning at distance: Effects of interaction traces on academic achievement.
 Computers & Education, 87, 204-217. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.</u>
 2015.07.002

- Kelchan, R. (2016). Who enrolls in competency-based education? An examination of the demographics and finances of competency-based education programs. *The Journal of Competency-Based Education*, 1(1), 48059. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/</u> <u>cbe2.1005</u>
- Kelly, A. P., & Columbus, R. (2016). Innovate and evaluate: Expanding the research base for competency-based education. *Center on Higher Education Reform American Enterprise Institute, AEI Series on Competency-Based Education*. <u>https://www.aei.org/search-results/?wpsolr_q=competency-based%20education&wpsolr_fq%5B0%5D=tags_str:competency-based%20education</u>
- Kentnor, H. E. (2015). Distance education and the evolution of online learning in the United States. *Curriculum and Teaching Dialogue*, *17*(2), 21-34.

Kirmizi, O. (2015). The influence of learner readiness on student satisfaction and academic achievement in an online program at higher education. *Turkish Online Journal of Education Technology*, 14(1), 133-412.

Klein-Collins, R. (2012). Competency-Based Degree Programs in the U.S.: Postsecondary Credentials for Measurable Student Learning and Performance. Council for Adult and Experiential Learning. Council for Adult and Experiential Learning. <u>https://eric.ed.gov/contentdelivery/servlet/ERICServlet?</u> accno=ED547416

Krause, J., Portolese-Dias, L., & Schedler, C. (2015). A comparative study of competency-based courses demonstrating a potential measure of course quality and student success. *Online Journal of Distance Learning Administration 18*(4), 1-6.<u>http://www.westga.edu/~distance/ojdla/winter184/krause_dias_ schedler184.html</u>

Kuo, Y. C., & Belland, B. (2016). An exploratory study of adult learners' perceptions of online learning: Minority students in continuing education. *Educational Technology Research & Development*, 64(4), 661-680. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/</u>s11423-016-9442-9

Kurucay, M., & Inan, F. A. (2017). Examining the effects of learner-learner interactions on satisfaction and learning in an online undergraduate course. *Computers & Education*, 115, 20–37. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2017.06.010</u>

Lacey, A., & Murray, C. (2015). Rethinking the regulatory environment of competencybased education. Center on Higher Education Reform American Enterprise Institute, AEI Series on Competency-Based Education. <u>https://www.</u> <u>luminafoundation.org/files/resources/rethinking-the-cbe-regulatory-</u> <u>environment.pdf</u>

- Laerd Statistics. (2018). Ordinal regression using SPSS statistics. https://statistics.laerd. com/spss-tutorials/ordinal-regression-using-spss-statistics.php
- Lave, J., & Wenger, E. (1991). Situated learning: Legitimate peripheral participation. Cambridge University Press.
- Lehan, T. J., Hussey, H. D., & Shriner, M. (2018). The influence of academic coaching on persistence in online graduate students. *Mentoring & Tutoring: Partnership in Learning*, 26(3), 289-304. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13611267.2018.1511949</u>
- Lockman, A. S., & Schirmer, B. R. (2020). Online instruction in higher education: Promising, research-based, and evidence-based practices. *Journal of Education* and E-Learning Research, 7(2), 130-152. <u>https://doi.org/10.20448/journal.</u> 509.2020.72.130.152
- Lowenthal, P. R. (2016) A mixed methods examination of instructor social presence in accelerated online courses. *Handbook of research on strategic management of interaction, presence, and participation in online courses*,(pp. 147-159). IGI Global. <u>https://doi.org/10.4018/978-1-4666-9582-5.ch006</u>

Marcus, J. (2017). Competency-based education, put to the test: An inside look at learning and assessment at Western Governors University. *Education Next*, 17(4), 27-33. <u>http://educationnext.org/journal/fall-2017-vol-17-no-4/</u>

- Matthias, A. D., Gazza, E. A., & Triplett, A. (2019). Preparing future nurse educators to teach in the online environment. *Journal of Nursing Education*, 58(8), 488-491. <u>https://doi.org/10.3928/01484834-20190719-10</u>
- Mayeshiba, M., & Brower, A. (2017). Student success and retention using new definitions created for nonterm, direct assessment CBE. *The Journal of Competency-Based Education*, 2(1), 1-9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/cbe2.1039</u>
- Mayeshiba, M., Jansen, K. R., & Mihlbauer, L. (2018). An evaluation of critical thinking in competency-based and traditional online learning environments. *Online Learning*, 22(2), 77-89. <u>https://doi.org/10.24059/olj.v22i2.1365</u>
- Merriam, S. B., Caffarella, R. S., & Baumgartner, L.M. (2006). *Learning in adulthood: a comprehensive guide*. Jossey-Bass.
- Moore, M. (1997). Theory of transactional distance. In D. Keegan (Ed.), *Theoretical principles of distance education* (pp. 22-38). Routledge.
- Moore, M., & Kearsley, G. (1996). *Distance education: A systems view*. Wadsworth Publishing Company.
- Moore, M. G. (1989). Editorial: Three types of interaction. *American Journal of Distance Education*, *3*(2), 1.

National Center for Education Statistics (2018). Table 311.22. Number and percentage of undergraduate students enrolled in distance education or online classes and degree programs, by selected characteristics: Selected years, 2003-04 through 2015-16. https://nces.ed.gov/programs/digest/d18/tables/dt18_311.22.asp

- Nodine, T. R. (2016). How did we get here? A brief history of competency-based higher education in the United States. *The Journal of Competency-Based Education*, *1(1)*, 5-11. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/cbe2.1004</u>
- Oregon, E., McCoy, L., & Carmon-Johnson, L. (2018). Case analysis: Exploring the application of using rich media technologies and social presence to decrease attrition in an online graduate program. *Journal of Educators Online*, 15(2), 103-115. <u>https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.9743/jeo.2018.15.2.7</u>
- O'Rielly, M., & Newton, D. (2002). Interaction online: Above and beyond requirements of assessment. *Australian Journal of Educational Technology*, 18(1), 57-70. <u>https://doi.org/10.14742/ajet.1879</u>
- Parson, K., Mason, J., & Soldner, M. (2016). On the path to success: Early evidence about the effectiveness of postsecondary competency-based education programs. American Institutes for Research. <u>https://www.air.org/sites/default/files/</u> <u>downloads/report/Path-to-Success-Postsecondary-Competency-Based-Education-</u> Programs-Oct-2016.pdf
- Peck, L., Stefaniak, J. E., & Shah, S. J. (2018). The correlation of self-regulation and motivation with retention and attrition in distance education. *Quarterly Review of Distance Education*, (3).
- Perkins, K.R. (2021). Financial aid student retention and graduation: A longitudinal study of the California State University system. (Publication No. 28547648) [Doctoral dissertation, California State University, Fresno]. ProQuest Dissertations and Theses database.

- Phirangee, K., Epp, C. D., & Hewitt, J. (2016). Exploring the relationships between facilitation methods, students' sense of community, and their online behaviors. *Online Learning*, 26(2), 1-21. <u>https://doi.org/10.24059/olj.v20i2.775</u>
- Politis, J., & Politis, D. (2016). The relationship between an online synchronous learning environment and knowledge acquisition skills and traits: The Blackboard Collaborate experience. *The Electronic Journal of e-Learning*, 14(3), 196-222.
- Porter, S. R. (2016). Competency-based education and federal student aid. *Journal of Student Financial Aid*, 46(3), 2-15. <u>http://publications.nasfaa.org/jsfa/vol46/iss3/2</u>
- Pretlow, J., Jackson, D., Bryan, M., National Center for Education Statistics (ED), & RTI International. (2020). A 2017 Follow-up: Six-year persistence and attainment at first institution for 2011-12 first-time postsecondary students. Web Tables. NCES 2020-237. In National Center for Education Statistics. National Center for Education Statistics.
- Qayyum, A., Zipf, S., Gungor, R., & Dillon, J. M. (2018). Financial aid and student persistence in online education in the United States. *Distance Education*, 40(1), 20-31. https://doi.org/10.1080/01587919.2018.1553561
- Radovan, M. (2019). Should I stay, or should I go? Revisiting student retention models in distance education. *Turkish Online Journal of Distance Education*, 20(3), 29-40. <u>https://doi.org/10.17718/tojde.598211</u>

Reyes, J. A. (2013). Transactional distance theory. *Distance Learning*, 10(3), 43-50.

- Riesman, D. (1979). Society's demands for competence. In G. Grant et al. (Eds.), On competence: A critical analysis of competence-based reforms in higher education (pp. 18–65). Jossey-Bass.
- Robichaud, W. (2016). Orientation programs to increase retention in online community college courses. *Distance Learning*, *13*(2), 57-64.
- Rubio, F., Thomas, J. M., & Li, Q. (2018). The role of teaching presence and student participation in Spanish blended courses. *Computer Assisted Language Learning*, 21(3), 226-250. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09588221.2017.1372481</u>

Sadykova, G., & Meskill, C. (2019). Interculturality in online learning: instructor and student accommodations. *Online Learning*, 23(1), 5-21. https://doi.org/10.24059/olj. v23i1.1418

- Sanderson, C-A. (2019). Social media: Fostering social presence in distance education. *Distance Learning*, *16*(3), 27-34.
- Sargeant, J., Wong, B. M., & Campbell, C. M. (2018). CPD of the future: A partnership between quality improvement and competency-based education. *Medical Education, 52*, 125-135. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/medu.13407</u>

Sebastianelli, R., Swift, C., & Tamimi, N. (2015). Factors affecting perceived learning, satisfaction, and quality in the online MBA: A structural equation modeling approach. *Journal of Education for Business*, 90(6), 296-305. https://doi.org/10.1080/08832323.2015.1038979
- Shaw, M., Burrus, S., & Ferguson, K. (2016). Factors that influence student attrition in online courses. Online Journal of Distance Learning Administration, 19, 1-8. <u>https://westga.edu/~distance/ojdla/fall193/shaw_burrus_ferguson193.html</u>
- Simplicio, J. S. C. (2019). Strategies to improve online student academic success and increase university persistence rates. *Education*, *139*(3), 173-177.
- Sorenson, C. & Donovan, J. (2017). An examination of factors that impact the retention of online students at a for-profit university. *Online Learning*, 21(3), 206-221. <u>https://eric.ed.gov/contentdelivery/servlet/ERICServlet?accno=EJ1154164</u>
- Sung, E., & Mayer, R. E. (2012). Five facets of social presence in online distance education. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 28, 1738-1747. <u>https://doi.org/</u> 10.1016/j.chb.2012.04.014
- Tinto, V. (1997). Enhancing learning via community. Thought & Action, 13(1), 53-58.
- Tinto, V. (2006). Research and practice of student retention: What is next? *Journal of College*, 8(1), 1-19. <u>https://doi.org/10.2190/4YNU-4TMB-22DJ-AN4W</u>
- Tolliver, D. E., Martin, A., & Salome, N. (2018). Competency-based education, lifelong learning and adult students: Insights from international partnerships between East Africa, Southern Africa, and USA-based institutions of higher education.
 Africology: The Journal of Pan African Studies, 12(1), 123-144.
- Torun, E. D. (2020). Online distance learning in higher education: E-learning readiness as a predictor of academic achievement. *Open Praxis*, 12(2), 191-208. <u>https://doi.org/10.5944/openpraxis.12.2.1092</u>

- Touchie, C., & ten Cate, O. (2016). The promise, perils, problems, and progress of competency-based medical education. *Medical Education*, 50, 93-100. https://doi.org/10.1111/medu.12839
- U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics. (2018). The NCES Fast Facts. <u>https://nces.ed.gov/fastfacts/display.asp?id=80</u>
- Vella, E., Turesky, E. & Hebert, J. (2016). Predictors of academic success in web-based courses: age, GPA, and instruction mode. *Quality Assurance in Education: An International Perspective*, 24(4), 586-600. https://doi.org/10.1108/QAE-08-2015-0035

Vygotsky, L. S. (1986). Thought and language (Revised ed.). MIT Press.

- Walker, S. L. (2003). Development and validation of an instrument for assessing distance education learning environments in higher education: The Distance Education Learning Environments Survey (DELES). Unpublished doctoral dissertation, Curtin University, Perth, Western Australia.
- Walker, S. L. (2020). Distance education learning environments survey (DELES) manual. Mind Garden, Inc.
- Walker, S. L., & Fraser, B. J. (2005). Development and validation of an instrument for assessing distance education learning environments in higher education: The Distance Education Learning Environments Survey (DELES). *Learning Environments Research*, 8, 289-308. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10984-005-1568-3
- Watson, F., Castano, B. M. D., & Ferdinand-James, D. (2017). Instructional strategies to help online students learn: Feedback from online students. *TechTrends: Linking*

Research & Practice to Improve Learning, *61*(5), 420-427. <u>http://.doi.org10.1007/</u> <u>s11528-017-0216-y</u>

- Wengrowicz, N., Swart, W., Paul, R., Macleod, K., Dori, D., & Dori, Y. J. (2018).
 Students' collaborative learning attitudes and their satisfaction with online
 collaborative case-based courses. *American Journal of Distance Education*, 32(4),
 283-300. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/08923647.2018.1511509</u>
- Wladis, C., Conway, K., & Hachey, A. (2016). Assessing readiness for online education -Research models for identifying students at risk. *Online Learning*, 20(3) 97-109. <u>https://doi.org/10.24059/olj.v20i3.980</u>
- Wolff, B. G., Wood-Kustanowitz, A. M., & Ashkenazi, J. M. (2014). Student performance at a community college: mode of delivery, employment, and academic skills as predictors of success. *Journal of Online Learning & Teaching*, *10*(2), 166-178.
- Wu, L., & Lewis, M. W. (2019). How well does undergraduate education prepare college students for the employment outlook? A secondary data analysis of baccalaureate and beyond longitudinal study. *Higher Education Studies*, 9(4), 181-188. <u>https://eric.ed.gov/contentdelivery/servlet/ERICServlet?accno=EJ1233797</u>
- Xu, D., & Jaggars, S. S. (2011). Online and hybrid course enrollment and performance in Washington state community and technical colleges [Working Paper No. 31].
 Community College Research Center,. <u>https://ccrc.tc.columbia.edu/media/k2/</u> <u>attachments/online-hybrid-performance-washington.pdf</u>

- Yang, D., Baldwin, S. & Snelson, C. (2017). Persistence factors revealed: students' reflections on completing a fully online program. *Distance Education*, 38(1), 23-36. https://doi.org/10.1080/01587919.2017.1299561
- Zimmerman, T. D. (2012). Exploring learner to content interaction as a success factor in online courses. *International Review of Research in Open and Distance Learning*, 13(4), 152-165. <u>https://doi.org/10.19173/irrodl.v13i4.1302</u>

Appendix A: Debriefing Response

Course Modality and Dialogue as Predictors of Postsecondary Student Success in Online

Greetings,

Thank you for participating in this study. The purpose of this study was to explore the influence of online course type (traditional or competency-based education) and dialogue (learner-learner, learner-instructor, learner-content interactions) on student retention. There was no deception in this study. All participants completed the DELES and the demographic survey. The responses will be compared between traditional online students and CBE students. Demographic information will also be compared between traditional online students and CBE online students. Formal results have not yet been analyzed.

Once completed, my dissertation will also be archived and accessible through Walden University. I have listed my contact information below, as well as Walden University contacts. Thank you again for your support and contribution.

> Sincerely, Danielle Lawson

Appendix B: Demographic Survey

<u>In which program are you currently enrolled or have been enrolled in the last 6</u> <u>months? (check one)</u>

Traditional online courses

Identify whether the last online course that you were enrolled in was a required course or an elective course. If you took more than one course at the same time, you must select and identify ONE.

Was the course a required course? yes or no Was the course an elective? yes or no

Which is true of this course?

- _____ I was dropped from the course
- _____ I withdrew from the course
- _____ I completed the course but did not receive a passing grade
- _____ I completed the course with a passing grade

If you completed the course, what was your final grade in this course? (check one)

- ____4.0
- ____3.5-3.99
- ____3.0-3.49
- _____ 2.51-2.9
- ____less than 2.5

If you did not successfully complete your course, select an option for your future plans.

- _____I will try to take the course again
- _____I have/ may change my program
- _____I will/ have dropped out from my program
- ____I am no longer in school

Which most accurately represents your enrollment?

_____ It was my intention to be in an online program

____ I was forced into online learning because of COVID-19 school in-classroom restrictions

What is your gender? (check one)

- _____ Male
- _____ Female
- _____ Non-binary
- _____ Choose not to respond

What is your race?

- _____ American Indian or Alaska Native
- _____ Asian
- _____ White
- _____Black or African American
- _____ Hispanic or Latino
- _____ Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander
- _____ Choose not to respond

Age

What age group are you?

Military experience

 _____ None

 _____ Previous

 _____ Currently serving

Financial Support

Are you receiving government financial aid? Yes or No

College experience and performance

Are you currently enrolled full-time (12 or more hours)? yes or no Are you currently enrolled part time (1-11 hours) <u>yes or no</u>

What is your current GPA? (select one)

3.75-4.0 3.5-3.75 3.0-3.5 2.5-3.0 2.0-2.5 under 2.0 I am not sure

What degree are you currently pursuing? (check one) _____ Associates

Bachelors

_____ Masters

____ Doctorate

_____ Specific certification

_____None

Other

Which is true of your college experience?

- _____ I have taken some online courses
- _____ I have taken many online courses
- _____ Most of my college education has been online courses
- _____ I have never taken an online course

Relationships

Which best describes your current status? (check one)

- _____ Single/ not married
- _____ Married
- Living with a partner
 Separated

_____ Divorced

Widowed

Employment

Are you working while going to school? yes or no Working full time? yes or no Working part time? yes or no

Student Satisfaction & Course Quality

On a scale of 1-5 how satisfied were you with the course you are reporting in this survey?

____1= highly dissatisfied ____2= dissatisfied _____3= neutral

4 = satisfied

____5= highly satisfied

10= highly satisfied

On a scale of 1-5 how would you rate the quality of your course you are reporting in this survey?

- ____1= highly dissatisfied ____2= dissatisfied ____3= neutral ____4= satisfied

- _____5= highly satisfied